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TO

' JOHN SILVESTER, Esq. "

RECORDER OF THE CITY OF LONDON.

! o —

TO him, whose strong and comprehensive mind,

whose accurate and penetrating judgmcnt-,, whose

long experience, during many years of practice in
the criminal courts, both as Advocate and J udge, so
eminently befit him to discriminate innocence from

guilt, and truth from falsehood : to him, whose high

and invaluable privilege it is to be the instrument
of tempering justice with mercy: -to him, who was
present during the trial here recapitulated and

" examined, and who, from his important and elevated

statiofi, is best enabled to'appreciate the facts which
are here asserted; this Narrative is inscribed, with

the profoundest deference and esteem,
ij his most respectful ‘
And most devoted
Humble servant,

THE AUTHOR.
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DOCUMENTS

AND ‘ .

OBSERVATIONS, §. &.

IN bringing before the public the present narrative, I do -
not mean to cast any imputation upon the jury that tried the
unfortunate persons whose case I am about to state. I must,
in candour, believe that the gentlemen who composed that jury .
were not inflaenced by prejudices previously formed against
the accused, but that they conceived, from the evidence pro.
duced before them, the justice of the country demanded a con-
viction, and that they could.not discharge their consciences
without finding a verdict accordingly. - Neither would I in.
sinuate that any thing was improperly urged against the suf.
ferers by the gentlémen conducting the prbsecution: on the
contrary, I should not-do justice to them, or to my own feel.
ings, were I to omit expressing, in the most explicit manner, i
my humble approbation of the candour with which every part |
of the case was brought before the court, and likewise of the
mirmute attention it received from the humane and learned judge
who presided. The jury were most impressively entreated to
lay ‘out of their mind every thing they might have partially
heard respecting the case into which they were about to inquire,
both by the learned judge, and by Mr. Gurney, the leading
counsel for the prosecution, who was bound, from his situa.
tion, "to state- the eyidence to be adduced against the pri.
soners, and to comment upon those parts which appeared. to mi.
: B litate
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* litate against them, This he did with all the acuteness and

ability for which he is so justly distinguished ; and his humanity
induced him, when under the necessity of stating some trifling
circumstances which might be attributable to other causes be-

" sides guilt, to inforin the jury that much reliance ought not to

be placed upon them; and indeed the whole of the conduct of
the gentlemen émployed by the crown evinced that they were
not anxious for conviction, unless the evidence would satisfac.
torily warrant a conclusion of the prisoners’ guilt.

It may be asked, why should I, by attempting the vindicas
tion of these men, assume to myself more discrimination than
the jury and many others who heard the trial? and the more
especially when I admit that the case was fairly and impartially
investignted. My answer is, I am not so arrogast as to sup.
pose my opinion infallible; no one fedls more difident of his
own judgmeat than I do; and I confess .thut mothing but
8 sense of duty, together with the havimg possessed my.
seif of very material facts subsequent to the txial, conld
induce me to obtrude myself wpon the public notice, and to
assert an opinion which I am aware is contrary to that of many
gentiemen, who are far, very far, my saperiors in ability and
discrimination. } acknowledge, that it is with regret I feel
mysclf compelled to the presemt wndertskimg, becamse it
might appear beneficial to society that no doubt shonld
vemaim of the guilt of the sufferers, 1} ams the last man im the
world who weuld wish to remove the generally received opi.
nion, that ¢ marderers never escape detsction ;”’ on the con«
trary, I wish it to be impressed npon every mind. ktmay be

" urged aguimst me, that as the men caamat be now bemefited

even by the most unequivocal proofs of their inuocence, why

. should I met let the sabject rest? I declare, I wisk I could do

so0; but my regard for truth, with a conmviction that its pro«
mulgaﬁm: ‘must benefit mankind, convinces me I am discharging

« sacred and importunt daty.
It may be proper to explain the ‘mamner in which T was
{ed into this wnilevtaking ; and for this purpose I shall se.
' late

-
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{ste the clrcumtstances as briefly as possible. Late on Thurs.
day, the day beforé the trial, I was employed, by the
fathers of these unfortunate men, to instrnct counsel to de-
fond them. I had accidentally learned, previous to the trial,
some of the' circumstances which were te be adduced against
them ; but I had been led to believe, that in their conversations
they had so unequivocally acknowledged their guilt, that no
one oowld entertaim a deubt respecting it; and, besides, that
the accomplice would receive abundant confirmation from the
testimony of others: and therefore, though employed profes.
" diomally, and bound to defend -them by all fair means, I
folt, as every honest man would upon fhe occasion, the'
highest satisfaction that the perpetrators of so horrid a crime
were discovered. Hence their situation did not excite the

_ -slightest degree of aymphtky in my mind: nay, at the time

-the trial commenced, I most heartily wished, having no
doubt of their guilt, thet they might be satisfactorily convicted ;
but, when the case on the part of the prosecution was nearly
closed, my doubts arese ; the more I considered, the more those
doubis were strengthened ; and it being stated to me, at the lat-
“ter part of the trial, that Hanfield had before confessed robberies
, to avoid punishment for other offences, this tended still more to
- convince me that my doubts were well founded. I mnust con.
fess I was not incliied to waive my opinion merely because it
differed from the verdict of the jury; and that opinion not being
‘altered the next merning, Saturday, I went to Newgate for the -
purpose of secing the men, and made application to John Sa-
ter, the head tarnkey, who is a shrewd good kind of man. I
told him ¥ was very uneasy respecting Holloway and Haggerty;
T was not satisfied of their guilt, He begged me not to. give
- myself any uneasiness or trouble upon the subject; that
they were the right men he had no doubt, and that he dared to-
say they would confess their gnilt before they suffered. I told
him 1 showld be glad to see them, and if possible, for my own
satisfaction, obtain a confession, or draw frem them, in
the course of conversation, such particulars as would remove
B2 < my
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.my -doubts, On. seeing them, they expressed their perfect
satisfaction with every thing that had been dome for them
by their counsel; but said, many circumstances had beem -
given in evidence against them which were untrue, indepen. .
dent of Hanfield’s/testimony, the 'whole of which was false.
I conversed first with one, then with the other, for a con.
siderable time; and, urging every circumstance which-in my
mind operated against them on the trial, asked how they
.could- explain them to be consistent with their innocence:
namely, their denial of each other and of Hanfield, and theic
"stating they had never been at Hounslow, both which asser.
tions appeared evidently false, independent of Hanfield’s evi-
dence; and also how they could account for the expressions
s3id to have been used by them when commumcatmg with each
other, as to the drinking the gin at the Black Horse. Their
_answers, which I shall state hereafter, were so ingenuous, con.
sistent, and convincing, and in their manners there was such an
unaffected firmness, such a mild and placid resignation to their
fate, that I left them with the most firm persuasion of their
innocence.

The next day I agam visited them. On my. entering the
press-yard, I observed several gentlemen conversing with the i
prisoners, and pointing out in the most forcible manner the
duty and importance of confessing their guilt, and the little ex-
pectation they could entertain of Divine Mercy, if they per:
sisted in a falsehood at the awful moment of dissolution. They
still invariably asserted their innocence: and I appeal to those
gentlemen, whether the denial of the crime was not expressed
in a decent and respectful manner, and not, as some of the
'newspapers have reported, with impudence and effrontery.

Mr. Wix, an intelligent magistrate for the county of Mid-
dlesex, was present, and evinced a laudable anxiety to obtain
an acknowledgement that would satisfy bimself and the world
of their guilt, and who, I believe, also took considerahle pains -
to obtain proofs of their innocence, suggested that, as I had

_ been concerned for them, and was therefore entitled to their

confidence,
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" confidence, they would probably be more communicative to me
" than any other person, and that I had better be with

them alone. I accordingly retired with them alternately, and

afterwards together, to one end of the press-yard, where we
could converse without' being over-heard. After having ex-

horted them as well as I was able, and endeavoured to impress:

upon them that it was their duty to acknowledge their guilt, or
at least not to deny it; I told them, that whatever their de-
~ clarations might be, even if they to the last moment of their
existence persistedin asserting their innocence, the world would
not, nay, looking at the evidence against them, could not, be-
‘lieve them so: for I, who was disposed to think as favourably
" of them as any omé, could not doubt of their guilt:% that their

death was inevitable, and at the same hour to-morrow théy would '

beé in the presence of the Almighty ; that therefore their denial
" weuld risk their eternal punishment, without any possibility of
being beneficial, either as it regarded their characters or other
wise. Haggerty answered in the presence of the other, <¢ Mr.
Harmer, I am sorry 1 cannot convirce you of what I know
and feel in iny own heart; and if I cannot convince you, I am
sure I cannot any other person; but after we are dead and
. gone, something or another will happen by which our inne-
. cence will be known; buf, as God is my judge, I know no
.more of the murder than you do. I never went out with Han.
field in my life. ‘I never was present at, or concerned in any way
‘with murder. I have committed many trifling offences; and
as I am ‘going to die, I cannot suffer better than for that of

.

which I am innocent; as I hope my suffering innocently will -

atone in some measure for my other offences.”” And Holloway

then said, ¢ It will be found out how falsely-the villain has

sworn against'us. I never was in his company, that I recol-
lect, and have only seen him by accident in the street. I never
- committed muxder, or any offence for which I ought to lose

* At this time I firml§ believed them innocent, but was anxjous the
‘should nét suspect it, y ’ . v

. ny
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my life.” At this time Suter joined, and similer convermtions
and assertions from them were repeated; and as they-several
times expressed a hope that their'characters -would be hexeafter
cleared from the obloquy of murder, I told them, that ne ex-
ertions of mine shoiild be) wanting to obtaip, if pessible, jroofs
-of their innogence; aad if I should at any time be able to con.
wince the world that they were s0, they might rest assured I
would do it.”” I am new-satisfied they were innocent of the
crime for which they suffered death. . I should, perhaps, here
shortly state, that the clue by which I arrived at this cenviction
was furnished me by Holloway, on the morning of his execu.
tion, and only about half an hour before he suffered.
. Having now, I trast, satisfactorily explained my motives, I -
shall proceed to the investigation of the case o the part of the
prosecution, and if I can shew that the evidence of Hanfield,
the accomplice,.is in jtself improbable, and that it doek mot
_ receive from unsuspected sources sufficient comfirmation, the
. solemn declarations of the dying men must be strong, very strong
gresumptive proof of their innocence. But I shall not stop here ;
‘T will adduce that which doubtless will carry conviction to the
most skeptical ;—the declarations of Hanfidd himself that he
had aceused them wajustly. ‘

The mode I shall adept will be, to state shertly the facts
proved by each’ particular witness for the prosecution, except
‘Hanfield’s, which I shall give at length; and: then, after each,
subjoin my own observations. Whether I faithfully abridge the
testimony of the witnesges, the reader may readily jedge, by
yreference to the trial, taken in short hand by Sibly, and pub.
lished by Butters, under the autherity of the City of London.

Tuomas SternEN GErARD MExER, Brother of Mrs. Steele,
deposed that Mr. Steele left town on the 5th November, 1802,
for Feltham, where he had a small houseand isvemder wursery ;
Shat he did mof stale any particular time as to kis return, but,
as lie was absent until the Wednesday following, the witness
went to Feltham to inquiré concerning him ; and on learning

Lo "o that
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that be Jleft that place on the Saturday evening, the witness
and others searched the Heath, and on the left side of the road,
going from Hounslow to Staines, at about the distance of ten
or fifteen yards, found Mr. Steele’s great coatnearly conceated
in a gravel pit,/and ishortly after found the body, on the other
_ side of the road, at about the distance of 200 yards: that his
brother usually wrote his name in every thing, but whether in
this hat or not he could not tell, and that a reward of 50/. was
offered by the family to those who should discover the offenders.

Hexry MAxDY, inspector of Mr. Steele’s works at Feltham,
deposed, that the deceased left that place on Saturday evening,
the 6th November, at 7 .0’clock ; that he had oa a vound
kat; & had .been wore a little while, it mas not quite a new
" Bat; he never came particularly of a Saturday, he came on ang
day; I was the person that paid the workmen. He took from'
Feltham 26 or 27 shilliiigs. Witness found the old hat on the'
right hand side of the road coming from Feltham to town ;—
there were a great many persons assembled at the spot.

Mr. Hucsxs proved that he found the body in a ditchy by a
elump-of trees; and a strap round the neck, which was drawn
‘very fight, with marks of a violent blow on the back part
of the head; the witness also found the shoes about 50 yards
Mr. Henzy Froorry, Surgeon, examined the body on the
10th November, and found a large fracture on the front of the
head, also much injury done to the neck, a leather strap being
put round. it so as would bave produced suffocation of itself ;
the blows were such as a stick would have made, and _were, in
his opinion, the immediate cause of Mr. Steele’s death. .

His Mdjesty’s pardon to Benjamin Hanfield, alias Enfield,
was produced for an offence recited therein, of which he had been:
convicted and semteniced to be transported in Septmber Sessiohs
* last, at the Old Bailey. ’

Bexaamyn Hanwieso,—Mr. Gurney. Attend to the questions that I
ask you; give slow answers; be sure to speak the truth, and nothing
but the trutll.--lad you known the two prisoners at the bar A, Yes.

Q. How
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Q. How long have you known Haggerty ?---A. About seven or eight

years.
Q. How long have yon known Holloway ?—-A. Adout six or seven. -
Q. Have youknown much orlittleof them ?-—-A. 4 good deal of them

both.

Q. Have you been in their company much or little? A. A4 gooddeal

in their company.
Q. Wasthat the case before the month of November 1802?—A. Yes.

Q. At what houses had you used to meet them ?-—A. At the Turk’s
Head in Dyot-street, the Black Horse in Dyot-street, and sometimes the
Black Dog, at the corner of Belton-street.

Q. Do you remember being in their company in the beginning of
the month of November 1802 ?---A. Yes.

Q. Did any thing pass between you about going any where, and state
what?->-A. John Holloway came to me . at the Turk’s Head in Dyot-
street, in the beginning of November 1802; he called me out, and
asked me if 1 had any objection of being in a good thing ; I replied X
had not ; I asked him when and where, to which he replied it was low
oby, meaning a footpad robbery; I then asked him when and where,

he told me he would inform me in the course of a day or two; upon
" which he came the day but one afterwards. ‘

Q. Who came ?-—A. John Holloway, I saw him in the street; I asked

him if he was ready for what he had proposed ; he replied thathe was,

and that it should be done on the Saturday following; and he replied

to meto meet him at the Black Horse in Dyot-street ; I then asked him °

who was to be with us; he replied Owen Haggerty.

Q. Was it said where you was to goto?---A. Notat that time.

Q. Any thing more said at that time ?---A. No more than our meeting
afterwards.

Q. Where did you meet afterwards?---A. At the Black Houe,
appointed.

Q. On the Saturday following who did you meet afterwards?—A.
Owen Hagperty and John Holloway. Owen Haggerty informed me
thatit was 1o sarve a geutleman. -

Q. What does that language mean?-—A. That is, rob a gmﬂemn
on Hounslow Heath, who he knew had property about him.

, Q. How was he to know that that gentleman had property about
him 7--A. I do not know ; it was John Holloway that found it out.
We then stopped there till nsar the middle of the day, and from there

we went to Hyde-park-corner.
Q. Before
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Q. Before you went from the Black Horse had you any liquor i---A.
“Yes, we had ale or beer; we had liquor, Icannot say what,

Q. You went away from thence towards Hyde park corner ?---A.
Yes; and then we proceeded upon the road towards Hounslow il we
came to a public-houseon Turnham-green, where we stopped, and had

" seme porter, and from thence we went lo Hounslow to the further end of

the town ; we stopped at the last house, a public-hawe, with some trees
deforeit. .

Q. Do you remember the .ngn f---A. No, I cannot recollect ; I have
since found ot it is the Bell.

Q. At what time did you leave the Be]l 7---A. Asnear as I can recol-
lect it was past four o’clock ; then we proceeded upon the heath till we
came near the eleven-mile stone towards Belfont.

Q. In your way there did any conversation pass upon the beginning

~of your going ---A. Nothing further than common discourse.

Q. Tell us what did pass i---A. Nothmg more tha.l we hoped to meet
with a geod booty.

Q. Was any thing said about how yon were to do it :—A. Nothing 5
Holloway replied, that when we come near the eleven-mile stong, that

~that was their mark, but he thought we were ratker too soen.

Q. Did you wait upon the heath any time ?---A. Yes, we struck out

" of the road upon the heath, to 3 place that isnear a clump of trees (I

have since pointed aut the snme spot); we waited there a considerable
time, I suppose it was better than an hour, asnear as [ can say,. not
having a watch.

Q. Did you stay till after dark ?---A. It was dark when we got to
the clump of trees, or nearly so, but by the time that we had waited
there the moon had arpse ; we walked out from the clump of trees on
the left frem here, and walked about half an hour, and then returned
to the clump of trees.

Q. Which side of the clump of trees 1---A. The left from here.’

Q. Did you go beyond the eleven.mile stone i---A. We turned down
to the left just before we came to the eleven-mile stone ; at thé time
‘we were going to nigh where he died, the moon was obscured.

Q. Did you observe any person coming gcross the heath? tell us
what passed on the business that you went on.~--A. We then cameout
of the clump of trees; Holloway said he thought he heard a foot,
upon which we come out, and went along the road, upon which we
could descry the figure of a man coming towards us.

Q. Which way was he coming i---A. Towards Hounslow.

* Q. On which side of the road ?---A. On the right-hand ude of the
w:d going from here.®

'

‘e - Qs Ca
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Court. On the right hand as you go from Lomdon ?#---A. Yes: he
was near the road, on the path way by the road side; then on drawing
near him I ordered him to stop, which he |mmed|ate|y did;; Holloway
walked behind him, between him and Belfont.

Q. How did he appear to be dressed?e5: A, (He was dressed in a light-
coloured coat. - - ]

Q. Could you see whether it was a common coat or a great coat ?---
A. T did not observe whether it was a surtout-coat or a close-bodied
coat. 1 ordered him to stop and deliver his money ; he replied he
would willingly do that, and hoped we would not hurt him ; Owerr
Haggerty went between me and the deceased, the deceased put his
hand ‘into his pocket, and gave Haggerty something, but what 13
know not, upon whiech Holloway‘ asked whether he had delivered his

’

ook ; I asked him whether he had a book, and to deliver ity he

replied he had not got any book ; upon which Holloway insisted that
he had a book ; and if he would not deliver it he would knock him
down; he replied, that he had none; upon which Ho]loway Rnocked
him down with the stick that he had in his Hand.

- Q. Could you see where the blow took place ?---A. No, I could not. -

Q. Hewas knocked down with a stick ?---A. He was kﬁocl(ed down.

Court. Holloway was behind him at that time ?---A. Yes.

Q. You was before him ?---A. ¥es, and Haggerty too. v

Mr. Gurney, Did the gentleman do or say any Xhing at that
time?---A. I immediately took hold of his legs, and John Holloway
stood over hlm, prolesting, tﬁat if }zc said any thmg ke would knock
out his bram:. '
Q. Dld the gentleman say any tehmg ?---A. Yes, he kept crymg
out, ‘do not ill-use me ; Owen Haggcrly prmeded to search as I de.
scribed bgfore Hol}oway stood over his head, and thé deceased madeé
some struggle and endeavoured to get up, upon which he struggled so
hard that he got nearly across the road. He was very strong, it was as
muck as our main force could do to keep him down ; upon wlnch after
he was down, he cried out sevcre]y, after Haggerty proceeded to search
him; and, at the identical time, the sound of a carriage came near,
upon whzch he made another violent cj’ort 20 arise, upon which he could

# This exactly corresponds with the short-hand writer’s notes, the ongunl
proofs of the trial, and the engraved plan that accompaniesit. I can alsg -
state, from my own tninutes and recollection, that these were the words used.
by Hanfield ; but by some unaccountable mistake they are perverted in the

blished copy. Accid tally see g Mr. Sibly, 1askéd whether his copy was not
mutdated’ he instantly, and thhout my pointing it out, supposed. l alhwded
to this passage, and complained that it had been altered without his cgncurrence.

not
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nol suvceed; upon wluch John Holloway md, 1 will nlenee the
| Y

( ..' Court. Hollo,v\vay said that?---A, Yes.”

Mr. Gurney, On thisisecand ceffort to rise, before Holloway struck
him, he had got off theroad ; which side was he then? ofthe common

" side, on the right-hand coming te Lendon ?---A. On the opposite side,

on the right-hand coming to Londont Upon his crying out very. vio
Jently Jolm Holloway said, hé would silence the b——r ;5 John Hollo-
way gave him several divers blows upon his head and body.

Q. What size-stick was it?---A. T do not know the exact size of it,
4twas a large black-thorn stick ; on receiving which the deceased gave a
very heavy groan, in the course of half a minute afterwards he guve a
second groan, and seemed 10 sireich out difeless; upon which stretching o
himself out, I was alarmed jfor my own safety; 1 was on my knees,

holding of his legss; I arose and said, John, you have killed the man;

uapon which he replied, that 1 told a lie, that he was only stunned ;
1 made him for answer, that I would stop no longer, I showld'go o to
Lendon, he might overtnke mes upon which I.made the best of my
.way to London, and came on townds Hounslow, leavmg Holloway
and Haggerty with him.

Q. You had heard the sound of some cdrriage wheels, did that sound
#t all approach you?---A. Yes, it had gone.on before, it went by nearly

" at the time that the deceased groaned.

Q. What carriage did it appear to you to be 1---A. 1 could not make -
.out what it was, it 'sounded heavy. .
Q. Did it go like a coach or & waggon i---A. A coach, it appeared

- to'me s if it was oné of the heavy night-coaches.

Court. How far were you from it ?---A. J suppo:e we were near thirty
yard: fram it.

Mr. Gurney. You were then tbxrty yardsout of the road ?--A. Yes,
I cannot ascertain how far we were,

Q. When.you quitted them, which way did you come ?--A Towards
Hounslow.

Q. How soon did you see either Holloway or Haggerty again ’---A

" I saw them at the end of Hounslow; I was waiting there near an hour, -

Isawthem near to the public-house that we had been drinking at.

Q. Were you in the house?---A. No, I was waiting there, just
opposite the road going to Bath; 1 was just opposite of that.

Q. Where was the spot that this took place with respect to the
barracksi—A. I¢ was not on the same side of the road; it was 6eyomt '
the barrachks, on the oppome side of the read,

: c2 o Q. How - -

.
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Q. How near do you take it to be to the barracks —A. I camnaf
say ; the barracks lay to the right of us, some distance behind us.

Q. Have you since pointed out the spot to any person ?—A. Yeys,
‘to John Vickery and Mr. Hughes, as near-as my recollectlon would
allow.

Q.. You say that you had waited at Hoululow for nearanhourl—-&.
Yes, or more.

Q. After you had waited there that time, did you see eithbr of them,
or how ?—A, They both came up to me again at Hoanslow, at the
further gnd 5 then when they came they appeared to be out of breath,
and John Holloway observed that they had diume the trick; upon which
1 asked John Holloway whether /1 was in carnest ; he told me hie was,
and as a token ¢f that ha shewed me a hat wluch he had drought nway,
. putting a hat in my hand.

Q. Was that the hat that he had gone' down with to Houmlowl
-~A. No, it wasnot, I could tell that by the feel, it wasa better hat u
great deal.

Q. What sort of a hat was that he went to Homulow m?—-—A. It
resenbled a soldier’s hat to mey it was 6amd round with wr:ted bmdmg,
and the worsted binding was ragged.

Q. Has that bat since been shewn you?—A. Yes, before.the ‘magls-

, trates at Worshxp-sh-eet, but I do not know whether thlt is the hat
or no.
© Q. His hatwasa hat likeit 1~—A. Yes.
Q. You described the hat before.you saw it 2—-A. ¥es: S
Q. To whom #—A. To John Vickery. ' ‘

Q. When Holloway put his hat in your hand, what passed ?--A.

returned it to kim.
Q. What did you observe upon this?—A. 7 observed and gaid it was

a cruel piece of business, and I was very sorry tﬁat I had any hand

in it

Q. Did you make any inquiry after his own bat?—A. I did; he sa.ul
he had left it behind, he had served it ; meaning that he had duﬁguud
it or buried it. .

Q. Serving, means altering some way or other?—A. Seme vmy or
other, sir.

Q. Did you ask any other question at that time ?—A. Haggerly
interrupled us, and said that it was time lo prooced tonards ome.

Q. In searching the pockets of the gentleman had you taken any
money i—A. No, I didnot, 1 did not attempt to searchhim.

Q. Who did 2>—A. Haggerty searched him while ¥ held his iegs.

Q. He rifled his pockets while you were holding his legs !—A. He

. S attempted

)
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attempted to do-it; I do not know whether he had d;'xy' thing or not 3
afterwards me and Haggerty attempted to'come towards London 5 and
on the road Holloway pointed to the right, and said that would be the
best way for us to come; he went on the left hand.

Court. That is not material to pursue, what road they came.

Myr. Gurncy. Where did you come to in town ?—A. There is one
thing to observe, crossing that field I asked him whether they had got
the book; Holloway replied, as I had not shared in the danger, I should
not share in the spoil. . -

Q- You turned out of the bigh read into a lane?---A. Yes, not into -
Hounslow road, into another; there was one thing. Holl'dway pointed
. to he said was a mill or a manufactory, I don’t know which. -

Q. When you arrived in town you 2ame to the Black Horse in Dyots
street, what time was it then ?.--A. It was past twelve 6’clock’ when we
arrived there ;. the house was shut up, but they were not gone to bed;
soe had half a pint of gin there, drank that, and parted for that night. .

Q. Did you see each other the next day ?-—A. Yes, we did.

Q. You have said that when you- were going down to Hounslow,

) Holloway had on an old hat; did Haggerty go down in boots or. shoes?
»~A. He went in shoes, and he made this observation when he went
out, that he did not think the shoes would last him there.-

: Q. Didyou, observe whether the shoes fitted him well 1-—A. I did not.

Q. Didhe come back in shoes ?---A.  donot know, I cannot say whes
ther he did or not, ’

Q. You saw him again the next day ?---A. Yes.

Q. Did-any thing. pass upon the subject ?---A. Yes.

" Q. Where did you meet the next day:-~-A. We met at the bettom
of Dyot~stree‘! I'was at the Turk’s Head on the next day ; I saw them -
at the'bottom of the street.

Q. WAt passed then i—A. Iobserved John Holloway when I came
to hims had a hat better than he usually wore, and that it was too small
. for him ; upon which Lasked him whether that was the hat'that hehad -
get the night before ; hereplied it was, and we appmnted to meet the -
followmg day, which was on the Monday.

: Q. Did you meet on the Monday ? —A. . We did, in the afternoon; I .
sras it the Black Horse, Owen Haggerty came to me and informed me-
that John Holloway was at the bottom of the street; I went to him,
and observed that he bad thé same hat on he had the day befores I ,
told him he acled very improper in wearing that hat; it might lead to a
discovery, and 1 said I hoped he weuld get it done away. )
¢ Q. Did you see the inside ef the hat :---A. Yes, npon whick he look
[ . . the
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ke kal off and gawe it to me, and upon whick hat in the inside ias the
mams of Sleele, upon which I pointed out the danger he was in by
wearing it ; he replied, that he would get the lining taken out; I told
him there might be some marks about the binding or the buckle tha¢
might lead to a discovery, and I desired him that he woald get it done
away with; he replied, that he should meet me againin two or three
hours;  accordingly, he came again in the evening with another hat
ou, arnd something tied up in a handkerchicf; he asked me if I had any
objection of going to Westminster with him and Haggerty 5 we went
into Parlinment-street together. I said, I thought i{ was advisable to
hrow the hat over the bridge.
Court. Whathat?—A. M. Steel’s hat; the hat that he had worn in
the day : he had got that hat in an handkerchief.
- Q. You did not tell us that2—A. I did not understand that at first,
1 did afterwards.
Mr. Gurney. You advised him to throw it over the bridge:—A.
Yes, upon which he went on the bridge, and wanted to throw. it over;

-

1 made an ohjection, I said it might swim 3 I went opposite to Astley’s’

and filled the hat with stones, tiew the lining over it, and we went orl
to the bridge, ro ¢he Westminster side, where I throwed the hat over
the bridge into the water upon which we came into Bridge-street,
we met some woman that they knew, and one man ; they asked them
to drink, upon which we went into a public-house.

» Q. Had you after that any particular conversation with them upon

this businesst—A. Never.
Q. You were yourself tried here last September :—A. Yes.
. Q. You were convicted and sentenced to be transported; and ordered
to be sent to Langston harbour :—A. Yes.
" Q. Now I would ask you, in what manner were these two men
dressed 2—--A. John Holloway had a short smock-frock,. a flannel
waistcoat under that, and an old hat, apparently to me like an old sol:
dier's hat. -
Q. Was that a sort of dress he put on 'that day, or his usual dress ?
A. His usual dress.
, Q. What washe by trade 2—A. He is of no trade to my knowledge;
he had worked at Mr, Willidms’sat Mary-le-bone; going with his team

as a labourer. Haggerty’s dress was a velveteen jacket, swansdown '

waistcoat, and velveteen breeches.
Q. What was he by trade ?—A. He used to follow the bricklayers
Iabourers’ work, or plaisterers, or something of that kind.

Q. Was that the only day that he was dressed so, or his usual dress 2 '

. A His
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A. His usual dress; sometimes he had the addition of a pair of b!ne .
trowsers on.
Q. You were sentenced to tranuportatlon, ‘you were in Langston

-harbour' did the officer come down to you in Nevember ?---A. He

tame down to me/in'Octobér or November, he breught me up in the
Gosport coach. '

Q. You came across Hounslow Heath 1—A. Yes.

. Q. As you were crossing the Heath, did you point out any thm, to
Vickery ?---A. I pointed out to the officer the spot where we ﬁrst met
him, I was going to speak but he silenced me.

Q. Had you told him before you came there, that _you would give
him a'signal?---A. Ne, I had not.

Q. But you miade some signal to him ?---A. Yes.

Q. But you did not go on. Why did he prevent you from speaking ?
—A. Because there was some people by us on the coach.

Q. Have you since beerr at the spot with Vickery and Mr. Hughes?
A. Yes, and the Beadle of Hounslow was thereé too. -

Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews. Hanfield, it is a long time ago alf
this that you have been stating ?---A. Yes, .

Q. How long ago was this?---A. Inthe year 1802.

Q, Did yoit make any memorandum of any thing that passed in the
year 1802, so as to refresh your memory 1---A. No, no dther remarks
than my own conscience.

Q. Then all that you have repeated to-day, is from the mere result of
your memory, without the assistance of any memorandum ?---A. Yes.

Q. When did you first make this discovery, or when did yoti first re-
peat thisstory.1—-A. At Worship-street.

" Q. How many months ago »---A. In September or October last..

Q. Then the first time you repeated this story was in 4806 eee
_A. Yes.

Q. How came you first to tell this ltory ?---A. It was by mere ac-
cident

Q. What was that accxdent 1-—--A. 1was in this jail, we were ta]kmg
of different robberies that had been committed.

Q. You were talking of different robberies ?--A. Ido not say myself
we were talkmg of different robberies, and this unfortunate affair came
up, when I said that there were only three men in England that knew
it, upon which there was a rusour in the jail, that 1 wanted to Nose,
(i.e. to betray his associates), upon which I was obliged to vindicate
myself in silence; it struck me forcibly that I was in danger from this
ucldent, and I was sorry for havmv said it, on my own account.

Q. You

' Y
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Q. You sid it by accident, and were sorry for sayingit ; and so yon
were sorry for disclosing the truth?---A. I was not sorry for saying
the truth, I wasonly sorry for saying it in that place; I was afraid and
thought myselfin danger.
Q. Should you ever have disclosed it if it had not been for that ac-
cident ?---A. I donot know that I might.
Q. Why did not youn disclose it furu\cr tA. I was in too much
fear.
Q. Then it was entirely in consequence of this accident, or you
. pever would have disclosed it 2+--A. It was entirely in consequence of
this accidental communication. Sir John Carter came to me at Ports-
mouth, and asked me if I knew any thing of thisaffair; I replied Idid,
. and I hoped tarelate it all : I was very willing to come up ta.London
to do justice to the country and myself, for it Ia_y heavy on my consci-
ence; Iwanted lo bring it to kight, -

Q. Thatisnot an answer.to my question ; my queation is, that if it
had not been for that accident in Newgate, you would not have told
any body about it ?---A. I don’t know that I might.

Q. At the time that this murder was committed, you thought it was
a cruel thing >---A. I did.

. Q. You took no part in this murder :—A., No, I did »ot, no furtha
than being present.

Q. All that you did was to hold Mr. Steele’slegs 2--A. Yes

Q. Rut none of the hlowsvere nge'n while you held his legs ?---A. I
did Bot say sq.

Q. If you thought it was a cruel and savage thing, why did not you

. vesist it2---A. I knew it was of na utility to resist; I did not go owk
with any intent ta murder. C

Q. Can you read?---A. Yes: '

Q. Look at that book. (‘a testament handed to the witness) read the:
first verse of that book.---A. (Witness read) the bgok of the genera-
tion of Jesus. Christ, the son of David, the son of Abraham.

Q. Then the moment you saw this hat in 'your companion’s custody,
you advised him to conceal it?---A. Yes. .

Q. Though you thought this was a very cruel thigg, and at the time

you did ot chuse to have a share in the murder, you did not go to
complain of this murder that had been committed by your comrades?
---A. Tdid not.
Q. Not till the time this accident happened in Newgtte 3 'you never
-dlsclosed any thing about it 1~—A. No.
Q. What
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©. What induced you to make this disclosure, when the gentleman,
Sir John Carter, came to you?—A. Compunction of consciences

Q. How soon did this compunction come on you?~—A. // came on
me ever since it was done, from the first instance of commission.

Q. How happened| it(then thatlinthe course of four years you did
not go before any magistrate to stateit?—A. I was oo much, to my
skame, in the habit of vice, to think any thing about it, unless when 1
wis sober in bed, or &y myself alone; then I felt it bitterly; 1 was
obliged to fiy to company, or to drink to dispel my wretched thoughts. )

Q. Have you never heard there is o reward offered for the convxctlou
of a mrurderer 2-~A. No, I have not, Sir.

Q. Did you ever hear of any reward being oﬁ'ered for the apprehen-
sion of those who murdered Mr. Steele?—A. Yes.

* Q."Notwithstanding that, you did not make any disclosure 7—A. No.

Q. Do you know a persou of the name of Wilson >—A. Yes, I be-
lieve I do.

‘Q. And a person of the name of Welden ?—A. I do.

Q. Do you not know Isaac Wise }—A. I do. ’ -

Q. Do you know Dalton ?-—A. 1 do.

Q. Have you had any conversation with these men concerning this -
murder ?—A. After I wastransported, I had a conversation with them.

Q. Since last September had you a conversation with Welden, Wise,
and Dalton ? Can you recollect what it was about ?—A, No.

Q. You cannot recollect. whs.t it was about 2, Was it not about this
murder?—A. I cannot say.

- Q. Wil you swear that you Irad not a conv ersa,tron with these men
more than once on the subject?—A. I will not.

Q. Will you swer that you cannot recoltect whether you had or
not?—A. I will not swear that.

Q. But you will swear about this transaction in November 1802, and
yet you cannot recollect this transaction 2—A. No, I cannot.

Q. Did you ever have any conversation with any body that you had
got a something, that would put five hundred pounds in your packet ?
—A. 1 said so to a man in the gaol, a Mr. Shuter, that a grandfather
had died and left me some money, and I thought I should not be abh
to get it. ’

* Q. Did you never say, that by discovering something you could put -
five hundred pounds into your pocket?—A. No.

Q. You never said, that by discovering something you could put ﬁv&
hundred pounds in your pocket, besides getting your Libesty 1—A. No.

D Q. Thtl

’
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Q. Then if any body comes forward and swears that, they will
swear falsely 2—A. They will.

Q. It was only compunction of conscience that induced you to make
this disclosure }—A. I will swear thal.

Q. How often have you been within the walls of this prison 1—A. 1
have been here often ; I have been confined i in the jail, and I have been
tried and convicted here.

Q. And you were under transportation at the time this discovery
was made? What promise was made to you, to induce you to make
this discovery 2—A. No promise at all,

Q. You had no other motive at all but to unburthen your con~

_ science 2—A. 1 had no other motive.

Q. When you met Holloway, you urged him to go on with the rob-
bery, he did not come to you ?—A. He was come for that express pur-
pose ; I met him in the street.

Q. You were not at all intending to ‘commit murder >—A. No. )

Q. Though the murder was committed, and you knew that the
murder had been committed, you did not thiok it right to go ta a
justice to get these men committed?—A. No, I did not.

Q. After Mr. Stecle was knocked down, he went to the other side
of the road, partly by your dragging him, and partly by his.own exers
tion; no blowshad been given him but by Holloway behind 2—A. No.

Q. And the moment you saw this murder done, you went towards
Houuslow }—A. Yes.

Q. It was you that proposed the concealing this hat ?---A. Yes.

. Q. How often bave you been witnesses for prosecutions?—A. I
never was but once before.

Q. How long is that ago 2—A. I cannot say ; it may be a year and
a half. *

Q. How often have. you informed against persons for burglary to
entitle yourself to reward i---A. Never, v

Q. Will you swedr that?—A. That 1 will swear.

~ + Q. At the time that you speak of being a witness here, did you
coine in the character of an accomplice, as you came here to-day : —
A. 1 came forward as fellow-servant of a man who had committed the
crime.

Q. All this you bave told is not from any mefmorandum ?---A. I

bave no memorandus.

Q. What way of life werc you in before you were sent on the bulks?
A, I was a hackney coackman.

Lol ) : ' Q. low
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" Q. How did you get your living ?---A. Sometimes by thieving and
sometimes by industry.

Q. Who did you drive for?---A. I had many masters.

Q. Do you meaii that every day you had a new master 2---A. I do
not mean that.

Q. How many regiments, htve you been enlisted in ¢-~-A. Several.

Q. So many you cannot tell ---A. I do not know that.

Q. How old are you ---A.. Twenty-six.

Q. How many regiments have you been in'?---A. I cannot imagine
kow many, I have been in a £ood many.

Q. Will you take the trouble.to enumerate how many reglments
you have been in?---A, I have been in the East and West London
militia,

* Q. That is two?-.-A. The twenly-sixth light dragoons, and in the
#vety-ninth dragoons, and in the Army of Reserve.

Mr. .Alley. I certainly must object to this mode of eross-examina. -
tion, as.tending to make the witness criminate himself,

Court. If he choosel toanswer the questions, I shall have ao objecv
tion,

Mr. Alley. We cannot go into any fact that has'a collateral issue.

Court. A witness may object to answer any question that subjects
him to punishment ; still if he chuses to answer he may ; if he chuses
to object, I will not compel him to answer any questions, the answer,
to which may criminate or expose himself. He certainly is not bond
to answer any thing, by saying that he has committed an offence, for
which he is subject to any civil or military punishment; but standing

" in this situation, if he chooses to answer such questions, there can be
no objection from any body else. 1 have nothing to do with the ae-
counts of facts which have no benring on the issue, except as they
have & bearing on the character of a witness, and that is very material
to the issue, because the questions often turn on the character of
a witness; but\if the witness objects, it is impossible for the counsel
to cross-examine him in a manner that shall subject him to punish-
ment. I will go farther, perhaps he may not he gllowed to make the ~
witness expose himself; but the witness may answer any questions if
he chooses it : whatever the effect of that may be, it is my business
to take notice of the objections, and to protect lum from 2 a.mwenng
guestions tending to criminate himself.

Mr. Andrews. Q. Then you have been in five dlﬁ'ergnt regis

lnents 1A, These are questions that I shall not mmr
© p2 Mr.
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L
. Mr. Andrews, 1 dare say naot; after the observation from his Tord-
ship, I did not expect it; you are not bound to answer, certainly.

Before I examine particularly the evidence of Hanﬁdd I
shall take the liberty of suggesting a few Observahons, which:
indnoe me to believe that even this witness was not concerned

“in the murder. 'The Public, from what I can collect, geme-
rally think otherwise; for those who doubt as to the suffcrers
being guilty, are satisfied that Hanfield must himself have
becn present.—I am therefore aware, that, by sending forth a
contrary opinion, I shall unneccssarily hazard the little reputa-
tion I have attained for discernment, as the innocence of- these

- men might be maintained, even though it were beyond a possi-
bility of doubt that Hanfield was a party:* but as my objeot
in this investigation is merely to arrive at trnth, I shall frazkly
offer my opinion, without considering whether it coincide or

"not with that of others. .

No one could be better acquainted with all the circumstances
of the case than'Mr. Gurney, who opened it. That gentleman
Well knew the necessity of proving, as the ground.work of the
prosecution, that Hanfield was present when the murder was
committed. ~ On this part of the case therefore he made the fol-
lowing observations. (Videpage 14and 15 of Frial :)—* Gen.
ﬁemén, you will have no doubt, it is perfectly clear thathe was
one of the persons by whom this erime was committed ; he wilt
deacube the exact spot where the murder was committed ; that ‘
when Mr. Steele received the blows-he first shrieked, and then_
groaned.onee or twice;  will call to you the persons who were
passing the roadat the time ; thestage-coachman, and the passen.

' % The murder might have beon eemmitted by Hanfield alone, or in com-
pany with other persons besides the prisoners, and I will here mention an an-
awer given me by Haggerty on my observing the improbability of Hanfiehi’s
" charging two inmocent men, when he might as seadily have accused the

guilty. Haggerty said, © I know not how to account forit, unless, if hewag
! really concerned with others in the murder, that they are dead, and he knew
that by accusmg them he would not get oﬂ" »

gens
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gers on that coach; they will tell yon thatin pagsing by thatvery.
spot they heard such a shriek as the accomplice describes, and. ‘
tliey heard two groans. They remarked at that time there wag
some one being robbed, or some violence being used; they were
too apprehensive, of /danger to-stop on Hounslow-heath, for
the purpose of ascertaining what that mischief was. The ac.
complice states, that the gentleman who was murdered, the hat,
AND THE HALF BooTs* of that gentleman, were brought away by
the persons who committed the murder; he states that he was
stopped and robbed on the south side of the road, and the re.
moval of the body afterwards was a matter which he knew no-
thing of, be having left them. 1 shall prove,.first of all, the
assault to have heen on the south side of th: road, and that a
hat was found near that spot, so that it shews that some per.
son must be engaged in that transaction at the spot described -
by the accompllce. Gentlemen, he described the hq most ac.
curately ; for, on his being brought up -on ong of thé days of
examination, and inquiring whether there was any further evi.

. dence to be brought that day, the officer told him yes, & hat
was found upon the spot; he said, that was the hat left by one
of his companions; it had the appearance of an old soldier's
hat, with worsted binding, and that hinding was ragged; the

" hat answered exactly the description, as far as within his know.
ledge, and it appeared to be the hat that one of the prisoners .
had worn.+”

If the spot had been known only to the murderers, who
keptita profound secret——lf the coachman’and passengers had
never communicated their hearing the groans—if it had been
only known to oue or two persons that the hat was taken aivay,
and an old ope, with ragged worsted binding, found on the
south side of the road: I say, had these circumstances been
known only to the persons finding the body, and hearing the

* This was not proved by Hanfield.
+ There was o evidence of this upon the trial.

groans
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groans, until aftcr Hanfield had given his first account, certainly *
the proof that he was present would have been irresistible. -
But were they not known to all those who could read? and
as Hanficld was a post-boy, who must bhave been acquainted
with the place described, upon whom were they more llkely to’
make ant impression ?

The general interest excited by this atrocious murder was such
that for some wecks the road was thronged with persons wha
from mere éuriosity were induced to visit the spot. Hanfield’s
pointing it out therefore, even had he done it correctly,* is no
proof that he was present, as every one then residing at
Hounslow, and thousands besides, could have done the same,-
The particulars stated by Hanficld about Mr. Steelc’s hat being
taken, and an old one left, and that groans were heard by a
coachman who was pﬁssir}g, were subjects of great notoriety,
and would have furnished any one not concernedin the murder,
- (and yet wicked enough to implicate innocent men,) with suf+
ficient materials for framing thc story glven by Hanfield, or
indecd one far more consistent. ’

Having now suggested the weans by which Hanfield might
have obtained 2 knowledge of the facts he related, without be-
ing present at the murder, I shall proceed to state the circum.
stanges which convince mc he was not a party, ¢¢ He says,”
the blows were inflicted with a black-thorn stick ; that the de-
ccascd was at the time on the right hand of the road, coming i to'
London; ; and that on receiving them he groaned twice, and
stretched himse]f out lifcless. There i is abundant prcsumptlve
' proof that the deceased did not thus mect his death. If the
murderers had completed their purpose with blows, what ne.
cessity for strangulation? Why resort to the leather strap, and
take so much pains in the manbner of placing nt’ And as to the

¥ I am given to understand by Mr. Hughes, that Hanfield did not point out
the place where it was supposed the murdér was committed. - I shall here-
after observe more partncularly upon that sub']ect when [ come to examige his

ev ulcncc
groans,
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grons, upon referring to the cvidente of the codchman, it will
be observed that he describes them to have proceeded from the
contrary side of -the road, namely, the right-hand side as he was

* going from London; , Had Hanfield been present, he would

unquestionably' have mentioned these circumstances correetly,
and described what was done with the body : for, I cannot bes
lieve, if several men go out to rob, and murder ¢nsues, but all -
would take an equal share in deing that which was for their
mutual security. No one, therefores concerned in this murder,
but would have known where the body was secreted, and if
be was assisting, could state all the particulars respecting it.

In the next place, alarge bludgeon was found near the body,
which appeared to have been recently cut from a birch.tree,
on- the opposite side of the road, and from the chips and
notches, which corresponded with those on the tree, had been evi-
dently divided with a small knife. The bludgeon had marks of
blood upon it; and therefore no doubt can be entertained, but
that it was the weapon used. It -was produced in Court, and
excited an universal expression, of horror. This weapon was
not spoken to by Hanfield, but had he been concerned, cenld
he have been ignorant of it ?#

Lastly, a_pair of half.-boots, a pair of stockings, and a tueks
stick, were stolen by the murderers from Mr. Stecle, and his

- great coat taken off and secreted ; about these, also, Hanfield

is perfectly silent. He comes to tell a fabricated tale, and be.
ing unacquainted with the minute particulars, he very inge.

. niously frames a short account, in order to avoid 'detection.

He remembers that Mr, Steele’s hat was taken, and an-.old

* The particulars relating to the bludgeon, ] first lcarnt from perusing the
‘newspapers of Nov. 1802, and, as I thought it very material to be satisfied
whether they were correctly stated, I'went to Clayton the Beadle at Hounslew,
who inforined me the bludgeon had marks of bluod when delivered into his

. possession, and refcrred me ta Mr. Hughes, of Hammersmith, who found it.

", The fatter told me, that, as well as his recollection served him, it was bloody ;
that he had no doubt in the world that the murderers used it ; that it had beem
‘recently cut -from a clump of trecs on*the South side of the road; and that
from the size it must have occupied a long time in separating from the tree,

one

>
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_ane left; and has been told, that groans were heard by s
coachman who was passing. With these facts, and some lits
tle knowledge of the spot, which he has learned from others,
he contrives to make up his story; and, that he inay not be
called upon to state 'particalars, he very convenieatly quits the
bedy immediately on the murder being committed.

To some it may appear incredible that human depravity could
possibly arrive at such a climax, that a man should not only
attemapt to bring two innocent persons to the scaffold, but

should falsely accuse himself with the most horrid of all crimes. -

It has however been often observed, that there are gradations
of vice by which men proceed from one offence to amother,
until there is no crime of which they are incapable: and this
Rppears to be the casc with Hanfield.

I kxve heard it observed, that if Hanfield falsely charged
‘these men merely to get his pardon and release from on board the
hulks, and that his object being accomplished when that par.
. don was procured, he might then have refused to give evidence
sgainst them ; let it be recollected, that the pardon was not a
general one, only regarded the offcnce for which he was sen.
tonced to transportation; and he was mo doubt aware, that if
be ropeated his story, and admitted that he had been trifling
with the magistrates, that he could have been tricd upon his own
eonfession for this murder. He was therefore from necessity
compelled to persevere.

X shall here shortly notice, that several gcndcmen hare com.
" municated to wme circumstances to fix the guilt of the murder
upon persons who bave not yet been apprehended; but I am
- sure these gentlemen will see the propricty of my abstaining

from the mention of names, or the particutars disclosed. The
:reports against those persons are very prevalent at Hounslow ;
but with what foundation I am not called upon to say. Itis

" not for me to shew the probability of who might commit the
“erime ; indeed, it would be unjust and premature, as it may yet

~ ‘become the subject of legal investigation. I have undertaken to
sinvestigate theinnocence of the men that suffered ; and if I succeed
in
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in removing the prejudxces and odium from them, I shall fcd
myself sufficiently compensated.

I shall now proceed more minutely to observe on Hmﬁnld’i
evidence, which I shall so arrange that the reader’s attention
may be particularly drawn to the parts under discussion.

Aud rrpst, from leaving Loadon to drinking at the Bell at
‘Hounslow. :

It appears rather.improbable that three known thieves, who
were setting off for Hounslow with the express purpose of
committing 3 preconcerted robbery, should have ehosen te goin
company through the most public part of the metropolisat noon. .
day, leaving London at Hyde-Park coraer, by the direct and most
public of the roads; because they must be aware that immedi-
ately on the robbery being discovered, inquity would be made
‘what suspicious persons had been om that road; amd any -
officer who had either seen tbem or heard of their being. near,
wouwld have apprehended them. And what strengthens the im-
probability is, that this danger 'might be easily avoided, by
each going separate routes, and meeting at any given spot on the -
‘road, wé for instance at Kensington: for one could have

- quitted at Hyde-Park corner, another from Oxford.street,
sand the third at Grosvenor-gate; or, if they chose to go in
company,  they would surely have preferred the shorter.and
more obvious road across Hyde-Park from Oxford.street, to
avoid entering the main road till they reached Kensington. . ‘

The next improbability is, that thay should stop at the Bell,
of all other houses, in Hourslow. According to Hanfield’s
qvidencé, they were perfect stramgers, and their appearance

_such as was likely to excite suspicion; this, together with their
leaving the house at dusk, must bave struck the landlord and
all persens.in the house, who would instantly conclude they.
were upon no good purpose. The Bell is the first public-house
‘coming from the heath towards London and therefore, that
to which a person robbed wonld xmmedlately resort; and the
-jandlerd and others who had seen the prisoners would have been
ronvinced they were-the robbers ; pursuit would have been made ;

' E ‘ . and,
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and, if that failed, a very minute description of their persoms
and dress could have been given, and must have led to de.
tection.*

'The manner in which he describes the Bell would alone lead
me to suspect his'story :/for'if ‘Ifind-a man (interested in the
tale he is giving) state that which is improbable, (though as to
trifling and immaterial points) I have good reason to believe

-that the whole of his account is fabricated. Indeed, it strikes
" me that his pretended ignorance of the sign is impossible. He
thus describes it: ¢‘ we went to the last house in Hounslow
town, a publw-houw with some trees bqforc it.” And, in
answer to the question whether he did not recollect the sign?
be first says,‘‘ no, I cannot recollect.”—But, probably think-
" ing this was saying too much, as the house must have been so
" frequently mentioned during the examinations, ke added, «l
. have since FouND ouT it was the Bell.”
Hounslow is by far the greatest- postlng.tawn near the
metropolis; and of course that to which post-boys living in
. London most frequently go. The Bell public-house is re-
markably conspicuous ; for there is a large figure of a Bell
suspended from a sign.post at the road side, so as to attract the
attention of every passenger, and to be scen nearly a mile on
‘each side of the house: but that which makes it still more
‘generally known is, that it stands precisely at the spot where
the Bath and Portsmouth roads separate. Every post-boy,
nay, every person whatever accustomed to travel that road, if
asked where those roads .parted, would immediately answer,
“¢¢at the Bell.” T cannot therefore believe but Hanfield must have
known this house well: and if so, is not his a.ﬂ'ectatlon of
lgnorance a highly-suspicious circumstance ?

% 1 have seen the landlord of the Bell; and his wife, who say they have no
remerhbrance whatever of any stranger or strangers being in their house the
night Mr. Steele was murdered ; that, immediately on bearing of the event,
they cxerted their recollection very particularly ; ‘and that they could not have
forgotten three such persons as Hanfield and the prisoners, had they been

drinking there. . .
oo ' SecoNDLY.
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Szconnry. 'His account of his own conduct, and that of his
accomplices, from leaving the Bell to the commission of the
murder. .

On eonsidering his testimony as to waiting for Mr. Steele,
and comparing it with the real facts, upon record, as to the
habits of the deceased, I eannot for a moment think h|s
account probable.

Mr. Steele was not accustomed to come to or go from Fel.

tham upon ‘any given day, much less at any particular hour.
The witness Mandy says, he came on any day : and on subse-
quent enquiry I find that he went to Feltham as his avocations

permitted, or inclination.prompted ; "therefore, for any thing:

they knew, Mr. Steele might have been engaged at home in
town at the very time when Hanfield would have it believed
they were waiting for him at Hounslew ; .and besides, Mr,
Steele’s intentions, as to his return, appear to have been un.
known, even to his family. For Mr. Meyer says, ¢ he did not
state any particular timeas tohis return ;” therefore to the pri.
soners and Hanfield it must have been a perfect secret, as they
could not have obhtained any information from his servants or
others; and I would ask, is it credible that three men should
wait upon Honnslow Heath three or four hours* on a
winter’s night, without some good reason to suppose that the
object of their plunder would approach? For it is clear they

could have no sufficient rgason to beheve Mr. Steele wonld.

cross the heath on that night.

I would further observe, that Hanfield does not mention a
smgle occurrence during the long time they were there: he
does not state that any person on foot or on horseback, or even
A carriage, passed until after the murder ; whereas it is evident

¥ Hanficld says, “ It was about four o’clock when they left the Bell,” and
Simith the coachman, who heard the groans, says, ** it was about eight when be
arrived'at Hounslow,” and as he would have to change horses there, it would
probably be a quarter’past eight before he would pass the spote By Hanfield’s
sccount, therefore, they must have been waiting fall fourhours. . -

E2 many
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many persons must havé passed during the taterval, and that
several did pass the road within an hour of the murder, not
only labouring men who usually go to Hounslow from Feltham
and the flax-mills on Saturday evening, for their damestie arti~
cles of consumption) and ta' regals themselves at the public.
houses in that town, but also persqus of genteel sppearance,
who hy those not well acquainted with Mr. Stecle might in the

dark have heen mistaken for him ; and one gentieman, in parti- -

cular, about the sizé and figure of Mr. Stevle, Mr. Barrow,
surgeon,of Hounslow, came from Feltham on foot, and passed
the spot, abaut 7 o’clock, where Mr. Steele was murdered.

Tairory. The whole of Hanfield’s account of the murdar
itself appears to me improbable.

By the evidence of Mandy, Mr. Steele had only six or seven -

and twenty shillings about him, and if he gave up his money
jmmediately on being asked for it, he could have no possible
motive for resistance; and if be saw them disposed to ill-use
him, would he not have turned out his pockets to comvince
them be had o book? And can it be believed, that when in
the power of three ruffians, and lying on his back, he wounld
for the first time hegin to resist, and this teo when Holloway

was standing aver him, profesting that if he said any ‘thing he

would knock ot Rés brains.
Next, as to the struggling—Mr. Steels wasa small man ; Hol.
loway and Hanficld strong and powerfal. Mr. Stgele is repre-
. sented as having received a blow which brought him te the ground,
and he was lying on his back, Hanfield holding his legs. A
man on his hack, with his Jegs held, cannot bave stréngth to
resist even one adversary ;. and yet Hanfield says,: that, not-
withstanding Mr. Steele was in this situation, it was as much
as their united force could do to‘keep him down. Now, I re.
quest the reader to consider the situation of the parties as de-
scribed by Hanfield, and then determine whether it is probable

Mr. Steele conid, by any exertions, have got neurly acrosa the

road?

On being asked seme questions uwpon this point, Hunfield °

answered,

o
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aaswered, it was partly by their dragging and partly by My,
- Steele’s exertions that he got on the contrary side of the road.
‘The witmess, probably perceiving that the drift of this in.
quiry was to shew the improbability I have pointed out, thought¢
it would be explained by this answer, and wounld have it under.
stood, that as the deceased struggled they dragged; but this
renders the improbability yet stronger: the transaction, from
the first attack to the commission of the murder, occupied, ac.
cording to Hanfield’s account, only a very short space.
M. Steele is stopped, gives his money ; but no pocket.book;
begs not to be ill.used, is knocked down, and while Haggerty is
" searching him, which he begins to do immediately, a carriage is
heard, the deceased makes an effort to rise, but is overpowered,
and to prevent an alarm, be is murdered. . The stopping,
knocking down, and commencement of the search, were on the
causeway on the right-hand side of the road, going from town 3
and the murder, as he says, was committed on the loft. Let
me ask, what should induce the robbers to drag Mr. Stecls
@cross the road? Would it not have been much safer to keep
from it, and aspecially as a carriage was at hand? I am sure
every man of common sense will agree, that if the robbers had
dragged at all, it would have been to keep from the road, and
thercfore Hanfield’s answer conﬁrms my doubts, as to his hav.
iag been present.

It should be stated, thatin addition to the danger of crossing
the road, the robbers would bave more difficulty to get on -
the common from the -south side, than from the causeway, as
it is easy to step from the causeway to the common, but
on the opposite side there are large hillocks, formed of road
sand, and which could not be got over very expeditionsly by
persons carrying a dead body or a struggling live one.

- If Hanfield’s account be true, that Mr. Steele was dragged
~ across'the road frem the causeway to the opposite side, and
there murdered, the robbers must have taken him a second time
across the road, as the body was found in the clump of trees
on

.
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en the side next the barracks. For what purpose the mure
~ derers should risk detection by crossing and recrossing the pub.
Jicroad I am at a loss to conjecture ; especially as it was on a
Saterday evening, when labouring men are more about than on
any other night in the week.*
It is very remarkable that Hanfield should state they were
" thirty yards from the road when the coach passed, and yet that
ke should not give some aceount how they came to be at that
distance. 'This part of his evidence is left completely unintel.
ligible. His expressions are, ¢ He struggled so hard that he
got nearly across the Toad ;” and it should seem that nothing
farther was done until the sound of the carriage wgs heard, when
Holloway gave him the violent blows which caused his death.
He groans, and stretches out lifeless just at the moment the
coach passes; but how Mr. Steele got thirty yards upon the
common, he does not say.
Hanfield next asserts, he arose from his stooping position and
* Joft his companions searching the deceaéed, and that he did this
because he was alarmed for his own safety, Why did not the
alarm come mpon him when the sound of the coach was first
heard, or 'when it had nearly approached ? for when the coach
bad passed, so had the danger of immediate detection : but if he
was really alarmed, why did not his fears continue to operate, and
make him return to London as expeditiously as possible? In<
deed it appears to me highly improbable that a man should
take an active part in a murder, and immediately leave his
companions employed in searching the pockets for booty, the

* The idea entertained by many .people at Houuslow of the manner of the
murder appears very probable. They represent that Mr. Steele was accus-
tomed to walk on the opposite side of the road to the Barracks, and conjecture
he was there attacked. Being a resolute man, and having a tuck-stick, they

me he defended himself; that in the scuffle some blood was lost, and his
opponent’s hat fell off. That he afterwards endeavoured to effect his escape,
crossed the road to make towards the Barracks, and was then overtaken and .
murdéred. This account is in a great degree confirmed by the coachman

Baving heard the groans on theside nextthe Barracks,
only

-
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only object of their long journey, watching, and perils: Bes
sides, this search could net have employed three persons above
two minutes at most. Surely then, Hanfield, had he been
there, would have remained until it was completed.

FourtHLY. From the murder till their return to Town,

.In the first place, I cannot bring my mind to belicve that
a man impressed with fears for his own safety would have
stopped at Hounslow for a moment, much less as Hanfield
represents, for an hour or more, and that too, close to the
Bell' public-house, where all three had been drinking toge-
ther a few hours before, and which, as it was Saturday night,
was more resorted to than on any other evening. A man who
has committed a bad action, always suspects he is in danger;
and would it not have occurred to him that his Joitering aboit -
for an hour must be observed, and excite unfavourable im-
pressions against him, which might lead to his being watched,
and to his consequent apprehension? Admitting, however, that
he had no such fears, I cannot conceive what could induce him
to wait so long. He had left nothing to be done but the
pockets to be searched, which hud been partly effected, as he
says, before the myrder; as his accomplices, therefdré, did not
overtake him shortly, he would reasonably suppose they had
taken a different road, or were detected : had either of these’
ideas suggested themselves, he would not have remained-so near
the scene of danger, but would have made the best of his
way to London. Being called upon to describe the spot,
as relative to-the barracks, he says, it was on the same side of -
the road, it 'was beyond the barracks, on the opposite side of

“the road, he could not say how near it was to the barracks:

the burracks.lay to the right of us, some distance BERIND us,

" and that he had pointed out the spot to Vickery and Mr.’ Hughes,

as near as his recollection would allow.

This account ‘of the spot is to me perfectly unintelligible
and contradictory, and not in the least consistent with the plan
1 have seen, or with the spot pointed out to me upon the Heath.
The clump of trees. where the body was found, is, as I should’

conceive,
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conceive, rather less than ten mileg and 3 half from London,
some distance before you come in a line with the barracks,
and if the murder was committed opposite this clump, the bar.
racks would be/on the right)before them; a sitnation which 2
thief who had been waiting four hours to commit a robbery
¢could not possibly have forgotten.

The witness goes on to say, ¢ when they came up, they wers
out of breath, and Holloway observed that they had done the
trick, upon which I asked John Holloway whether he was in
earnest; he told me he was, and as a token, shewed me a hat
which he had brought away.”—Let me ask what trick was left

to be done when he quitted them? why should he enquire whes’

ther Holloway was in earnest? and why was any token td"be
given2—Was not the murder perpetrated, if his account be
credited, before he left the spot? and if so, is this conversation
consistent 2 I say it is not ; his inquiries would have béen, what
money they had found, and what had detained them ; and they
would have accounted for the delay, by being employed in se.
creting the body, if such had been the case. But not a single
word does he state to have passed upon that subject.-——He then
describes the hat as « fine one, and that which had been worm
by Holloway going down, as resembling a soldier’s hat with

ragged worited binding, and, after seme other questions and

snswers, adds, that Haggerty inferrupted them, and said it was
fime to proceed tomards home: from which it weuld appear

they -stood talking this nefarious business over near the Belt,

and were quite unconcerned as- to getting to town, or being
overheard—but on their ~-way to town, he says, I asked
whether they had got the book ; Holloway replied, as I had
not shared in the danger, I shoyld not share in the spoil.”” - It
appears to me, that this could not have been the conduct of
men, circumstanced as they were: Hanfield’s quitting them, as
he describes, would have alarmed them ; they would have said,
we must be expeditious and overtake him : and (supposing them
to have found considerable plunder, and not to wish him to
particlpate) thcy would bave agreed to have ssid, ‘¢ he knowa

’ : i not

L
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what we have got, we can tell him it was only a few shillings,
and will give him a trifle as his share: but it appears there
could be no inducement to deceive him. Mandy says Mr. -
Steele had but 26 gr 27 shillings about him : would these
"men, then, for the paltry consideration of eight or nine shillings,
which would have been Hanfield’s proportion, have risked the
frritating him, and particularly as he had left them, and said it
was a cruel business, unless they were contriving how to com-
pel him to betray them?, If so, their conduct wah consistent ;"
otherwnse, it was in the highest degree improbable.* The
reason, too, which he states to have been given, is absurd and
false; and he would have immediately answered, ¢ that he had
shared the danger,” for, according to his own account, he had
taken a very active part. He is the first to stop the deceased,
to demand his money, and when knocked down to hold his
legs till the murder is committed ; had he not then shared the
danger, and become entitled to his proportion of the plunder ?
and would not he have nrged these particulars to obtain his
, share?

-1 next proceed to examine Hanfield’s account ' of his own cone
dnct, and that of the pnsoners, in town, subsequent to the
murder.

Y cannot think it very probable that these men, if they had
commntted the myrder, would have gone fogether at 12 o’clock
at night to a public-house _where they were well known, and
indeed after the house was shut up, merely for the purpose of
drinking a dram; because thcy must be aware that the murder
would soon be discovered, and, as they were thieves, the suspl.
gion might fall upon them from their being out together on the
night it was committed till so late an hour, and especially as
Holloway wore a hat so very different from that which he

* He denies having received his share, because he knew he would be called
upon to state the amount, which, had he hazarded, he was aware he might
probably haveheenmmdicted by evidence as to what Mr, Steele had about
him. '

/- F ' had
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had worn in the morning, and IHaggerty half-boots mstea.d of
shoes if they had wanted drink, they would rq,thcr have gone
Where they were unknown

In the next place, is it likely that Holloway, # poor wretch,
who, in his best cnrcumstances, was)a_common labourer, would
Bavc worn nearly a new hat, and that of a fine quality,* have
ing, till then, used one of the coarsest sort, and very old and
ragged’ He must have been aware that this would alonc attract
qtientibg, and the more especially when he knew it must soon

" be discovered that Mr. Steele’s hat had becn taken.

‘On the Monday, the witness says he advised Holloway of
bw damger in weanng the hat; that the latter took it off, ud.
gave it to him, a.nd that he perceived the name of Steele written
in the lining: I cannot credit this-account. Is it not extremely

improbable, that three thieves should conversg in the street, in

the middle of the .day, respecting & muyder they had recently

' commxtted and still more so, that ene of them should take from

his head the hat stolen from the murdered geutleman, to be
examined by one of the others ? For aught they knew, the body .
had been discoyered, the hat missed, and police-officers and
others upon the alert to discover the murderers, and they
would therefore scarcely have dgred to talk and act in this
manpner in the most secret rétreat.—But I can percelve why
this was intoduced ; on the murder being discovered, it was men.
tioned in the public prints that Mr. Steelels name wag probably
written in the hat and boots that_ were stolen, and the adver.
tisement from Bow-street says the half-boots werc supposed ta
have the name of Steele written within, Hanfield, recollecting.
this, conceived it would give his account an appesrance of truth,
if he mentioded his having seen the name of Steele in the hgt
and he therefore invented this circumstance,

His account of the throwing away the hat must, I think,
strike every man of common sense as § fabrication, unless it

# Mr. Stegle’s hatter informas me it was a fine hat; that it was aharged
twenty-three shillings, including: the stamp, and that hats bave since ine
psgaped much in price,

631}
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can be believed that Hanfield and the prisoners were the greatest
fools, as well as villains, that ever existed. It is well known
_aimong the lower orders, that police-officers’ are always upon:
the watch in the evening, and at night, and more particularly -
86 in the neighbourhood of St.Giles’s, and at the houses used.
by suspicions’ characters, and that they” will frequently stop’
persons of .whom they have no knowledge, if they observe
thiem carrying a bundle; but if they see a known thief with otie,
. they never permit him to go unmolestcd. Would therefore
Holloway, after he had been admonished of his danger in wear-
éng the hul, hive carried it tied up in a haridkerchief to Dyot.
street, St. Giles’s?—a’ place where Bow-street patFélés and’
officers are continually upon the scout, and this too without
tearing out the lining. Could not this strong mark of identity
have been in a moment burnt or destroyed? Certainly it could,"
- and the hat'also; and, if it could be believed that Holloway
was ‘one of the murdeters, and disfigured thé old hat that was'
found-at the spot, he weuld not have been at a loss to mutilate
that of: Mr. Steele, without hazirding such imminent risk of’
 detection, by proceeding to St. Giles’s, and from thence to’
Weestminster-bridge, in company with two other thieves, -with’
this marked hat in"'a bundle ;—besides, Hanfield, who assumes’
sitch’sagacity in pointing out that, if even the lining were taken
oht, still the’ hat might be known by the binding or buckle,’
hust have been aware how dangerouy it was to.be in possession -
of Mr. Steele’s hat, or even'in the company of those who had
_it: He would therefore have refused to accompany them, be.
cainsé it ‘might with as little, nay, with far less danger have’
been destroyed by one as by the tlire¢, and he would have said,
¢« Why do you troubleme about it? You before said, I did not
share in the danger, and have refused to give mie any part of
the spoil, and why should I feel 30 interested in your safety
as-to endanger my own for no purpose upon earth? I will
have nothing further to do with the business.””—But what is his
condct? So far from feeling disgust or resentment, he is the
very man ' to take the'most active part. He it is, that advises
the’ thi'owmg thc hat over the bridge? he it is, that makes an
F2 , odjection
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objection to Holloway’s throwing it over ; lest it should swim ;
and he it is that goes opposite to Astley’s, fills it with stones,
and throws it into the water, from the Westminster side of the
bridge. Of this story I am not credulous enough to belicve one
tittle. Had Hapfield been the easiest of dupcs, it is highly im-
probable: but, with a man so vindictive and vicious as he is
known to be, it appears absolutely impossible. Besides, if he
were aware of the danger of having this hat, why keep it a mo-

. ment longer than was nccessary ! why not throw it over the

Surry side of Westminster.bridge? would it not have been
equally effectual, as well as less hazardous ? for, even while they
were crossing the bridge for no purpose whatever, they might
have been apprehended.

After making away with the hat, Hanfleld szys the priseners
met with some acquaintances, and drank together, and that he
never afterwards had any conversation with his accomplices on
the business. It appears to me unlikely that this can be true;
their attention would have been particularly drawn to every
circymstance that transpired relating to’this murder, and when
the body was feund, they would each be anxious to discover if
their persons were described as having been at the Bell, and
upon whom suspicion had fallen. They would have heard of the

-reward offered from Bow-street ; of people being apprehended

P,.a._

and examined ; of officers being sent in pursuit of suspected
persons, and other particulars, which must have furnished the
murderers with abundant subject of conversation, if they were
accustomed’ to mect so frequéntly as he says. Besides, the
sccreting the body, putting the strap round the neck, taking off
the great coat, and many' other cigcumstances stated in the
public prints, would have been perfectly new to Hanfield, and
he would naturally have questioned his companions whether
they were true, and what induced them to take sich steps;
particularly why they stopped to put the strap round the neck
after he had left the body dead, which must have struck him to
be very absurd, asmust the taking off the coat and bringing away
the boots ; fer thicves, who leave London to commit a highway
robberv, pever strip these they plunder ; knowing it would mos¢

probably

»
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N : .
probably lead to detection. These circumstances, therefore, must
have excited his curiosity, which he would have satisfied the first
time he saw his accomplices, had his-own and their conduct been
such as he describes. Neither is there any foundation whatever
for what he says;/ an/his cross-’exﬁmination, on the discovery be.
ing made by mere accident, from his having dropped some expres-
sions unguardedly in Newgate; that this occasioned a report
that he was going to betray his associates ; and that he was after-
wards very sorry for mentioning it; as he thought himself in
danger. Allthis is false; he was always the most violent man to
call out against what, in.the cant phrase, is called a nose, 1. e.
ane who would impeach others. Inquiry has beca made
of all those who were in the same room with him, and generally

' throughout the prison, whether he had let fall any expressions
that could lead to a supposition that he was concerned in Mr.
Steele’s murder, and it appears that nothing of the kind ever
transpired.* But this I learn, that, when he was leaving
Newgate to go to the Hulks, he said he should obtain his
pardon in three months, and have, besides, a very handsome
legacy. At this time, therefore, I have no doubt he had itin
contemplation to make the accusation ‘he has since brought .
forward.

I think the reader must agree with me, that compunctlon of .
conscience operated very little upon this man’s mind, not.
withstanding he says it came on him ever since the commission
of the crime, and that when he was sober, or.in bed alonme,
he felt it bitterly.—But has he changed his vicious habits ? No.
‘Was it not more probable that compunction should operate

- upon him to make the disclosure when out of custody, and
having more opportunities for. serious reflection than when
surrounded. by the most depraved of mankind? and, if so,
why not avail himself of many opportunities which must have

]

* Itis well known that most thieves, however desperate, will not conceal
murder.

presented
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presented themsclves to- unburden his couscience duthug ¢he
foar years that have elapsed since the murder ?

Mzr. Gurney, in his opening, statedto the jury that Hanfield
was a post-boy : bat the latter, on his cross-exumination, calls
hinself a. hackney-coackman, aud-evades telling who were his
* masters: I have nodoubt, he suppressed his having been-a post.
bay, lcst: it should: be suppased that he had obtained’ ' kvosr.
ledge of the factk relatihg to Mr. Steele’s murder from llls?
situation, and not from being an accomplice. -

He states himself to have belonged to five different: rcgunenta.
Thu) I belicve, is' not one half: the number into'which -he has®
enlisted; and every time he was-attested, .he must have come

mitted’ perjury, . if he belonged to another regiment: surely, ~

then; this man cannot entertain mueh, if any, regard: for an
oath, and little attention: ought'therefore to be given-to what.:
ever he: may swear.

Among the regiments into which he dascfibes himself_to"

beve entered, I beg the reader tonotiee that he omits the pinth-
Light Drmgoonss—why- he coneealed’ this circumstance’ witl
puesently be perecived. -

In- the comusencement of my obsei'vaﬁons upon Hanfield's’
evidence, I endeavoured to shew that, from his situation as:a:
post-boy .in texn, he could scarcely avoid - obtaining - some

knowledge of the. circumstances he gave in evidence, and I

_bave stated my suspition that 'from:the same circumstunce he
must'have been acquainted withithe:Bell public-house.  Some’
further particalars -have sinde. come to, my-kmowledge, - which'
prove to demonstration that he must have known ‘the house
well ; that hemust have heard some-of the facts respecting Mr.
Steele’s murder ; particulars which ténd mitre strengly thana any
before mentioned to ‘convinoeme that his accusation was false.

Béfore 1 state these circumstinces, some apology may be
requisite for not making ghe inquiries respecting them earlier, as
tlicreby a few of the foregoing observations mighkt have beem
rendered less neccssary. ButI can only say, that, besides the
ordinary calls of my professnon, which at all times leave me very

. litthe
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- %ittle leisure, it has so happened, that I have been more than
wsually accupied since this unfortynate event, and cewld not
therefore pussue the investigation with the alacrity I could have
wished, In the course of my inquiries respecting Hanfield’s

" fermer-confessjouy I was(led toexamine the Newgate Calendar
of July Sessions, 1805, in which Ifound the folloying entries :—

¢¢ Benjamin Hapfield, committed by Thowas Robinson and
4 William Kinnaird, Esquires, upon his own voluntary cen-
& fession, for stealing in the dwelling-house of John Few
£¢ Royle, fifty pounds in money, and upwards of one hundred
4¢ pounds in hank.potgs, his property. Detained on oath of
s Richard Davies, charged w:th beinga deserter from the West -
#¢ London militia.” o

On application at Bow-street police-effice,. from which he
was committed, I learned that he was, on the 13th-of June,

" charged with desertion from the 9th Light Dragoons and West
Loundon Militia; but he and two others, who were in custody,
be;ng saspected of varions robberies, the persons who hadl
lost property were desired to attend on the exaniination of tho
prisoners. '

On the 17th ¢f the same: month a serjeant of the 9th nght
Dragoons swore to Hanfield’s being a desérter from that regi-
ment, and on the same day Mr. Royle stated his belief that he
had been eoncerned in the robbery at his house ; as, abouta
fortnight before it was committed, he had seen him with some.
thing in his hand, with which he supposed he was about to- cut
the shop-window. Hanfield was therefore not sent to his regi.
ment till this felony was farther investigated,

But, between this and his next examination, it suggested itself
to him that, by confessing the robbery, he might avoid being
roturned to his regiments and punished far desertion. And tha
next time he was brought to Bow.street office, he actually
made a confession, but in such terms as I think must convince
every one that he knew nothing of the transaction. The
pagistrates, no doubt, saw his motive, and acted accordingly.
They therefore not only committed him for the felony, but sent
Adetajner o hold him 8s a deserter,

Ono




40
- .One of the committing magistrates very politely permitted
me to take copies from the Occurrence-Book at the office, and
the following is the deposition made by one of the serjeants
who appeared against Hanfield.

James Foster, Serjeant in 9th Light Dragoons, on his oath
saith, ¢¢ that the person now present, who calls himself Benja-
¢ min Hanfiel, is a private belonging to the said regiment,
¢ and from which he deserted, about six weeks ago, ¥ROM
¢ nouNsLow BARRACKS, and that he enlisted in the name of -
.¢ Benjamin Bampton.”
o ‘JAMES FOSTER, ,
: ‘Serjeant 9th L. D.
Sworn before me, this 17th June, 1805,

T. ROBINSON. ‘

The following is a copy of Hanfield’s confession, made imme.
diately after the foregoing deposition. ‘

The Prisoner voluntarily says,. ¢ that he is one of the men
¢ who broke into the house of Mr. Royle, of Orange-street,
¢ Red.Lion.Square, and stole the money and bank.notes :
€ ‘says, he makes this confession, because he would rather be -
6 prosecuted for robbery than serve his Majesty, who he has

- ¢ seryed for nine years, and got nothing for it: says, he: only
¢¢ means to criminate h;mself and does not know, nor will not
-¢¢ know, who were with him when the robbery was committed :
¢ says, he does not know what money they took, nor what
¢ his share was: says, he does not exactly know whereit was,
¢ but thinks it was last month, in the evening, after dark;
« candles were lighted ; examinant went in at the door, and
¢ took what he could find.”"*
B. ENFIELD,
Taken before us, this 24th June, 1805,
W. KINNAIRD.
T. ROBINSON.

* Nothing was stolen from Mr. Royle but cash and notes, which were taken
out of a chest of drawers, ing two-pmr of stairs baek ropm. '
At
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At the ‘next sessions, Hanfield was indicted for this felony,
pleaded not guilty, and was, as might be expected, acquitted.
He, no doubt, conceived he would be discharged on such ac-
quittal ; but, finding he was detained, in order to be sent to his
regiment, ke, while in)Newgate, made several apphcatlons to
give further particalars respecting the robbery. .These, how.
ever, were not attended to, as it was evident he was endea-

-vouring to implicate himself, merely to avoid being returned to
his regiments. He was afterwards taken to Bow-street, and ‘
committed to the Savoy. )

If I felt a doubt before whether Hanfield’s story was falss, -

- that doubt would have been removed by a review of the pro-
ceedings at Bow.street; for, Hanfield having been a soldier in
Hounslow barracks, it is impossible that he shauld be unac_
quainted with the nearest public-house, the Bell. Itis there~
fore evident he swore falsely, when he denied his knowledge of .
that house; and, if any thing stronger were. wanting on this
head, we have abundant confirmation from the officers of Wor.
ship.street; who, on my asking if they thonght Hanfield knew
the Bell, or was well acquainted with the Hounslow road,
answered, Certainly ; as he lived post-boy at Egham, or Staines,
and, besides, worked upon that road as guard {o one of the loug
stages.”’

We therefore find Hanﬁeld in situations which must render
him well acquainted with. Hounslow-heath ; so that, on hearing,
where Mr. Steele was murdered, he could pretty nearly point
out the spot.—We next find him to have been & soldier in
Hounslow barracks, which being near the place where the mur-
der was perpetrated, the circumstances respecting it would be

.-the subject of conversation among his comrades, and the old
hat, as it appeared to have been a soldier’s, would make the
strongest impression upon the mind of a soldier. Lastly, we

© find him to have been a guard to a stage-coach on the Houn.
slow road; and therefore the most likely of all men, to have

learned that groans were heard by a coachman: this being a

circumstance that would be talked’of by coachmen and guards

¢ . on
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en that road, ‘und’ which ‘would: particlarly strike their atten.
tion ;—and, as was before observed, the spot, the hat, and the
-groans, are the only facts he mentiofis throughout s 1m§z
story.
But what appears to-me'by ‘far'the most lmportant, is Han.
_-freld’s confession. ‘He was charginy hintself with'a capital fe.
lony to avoid ‘military  ptnishment, or rather, 'as he expresids
i, wmilitary daty. - Hesays, ““he would rather be prosetuted
for robbery, than'serve his majesty.”” If therefore a min has
unsuccessfully endeavoured to evade a minor punishment, By
. confessing & felonry of 'a'common and ordifrary nature, 'he'will
feel the necessity of confessing a trime’ of greater” érormity |
"ta release himself from’a more perilous ‘situation. ~Hanfiedd i
would thus argue with himself: ¢¢ When in the month of June,
1805, I vras charged as a-descrier, T confessed myself guilty of
*2-burgiary, to prevent being returned to my regiment, bt
-failed of suecess. I must thieréfore' now a¢cuse myself of sonie
-gredter offence, and implicate others, in order to get released
-~from'my.preseﬁt'§trﬂeﬂ'nks"op.b6ard the hulks. I know the v
world-ate' anxions to discover the ‘murdérers of Mr. ‘Stéelé ;
‘I-am aequaimted with the spot: Y also'know that ‘Mr. Steelée’s
“hat was' taken, an old' one left, ‘and that -groans' were heard By
a coachman: I will therefore cause it to be reported -that X
~ was’ concerried in the' murder. ‘Inquiries will tonsequently be: {
made, and T will then confess it. 'As HoNoway and Haggerty
dre men ‘of bad character, - I will fix upon’ thenr as having Yeéén
‘my accomplices;'and; before I caw be a compefent withessaghitist |
- them, I must'have my pavdon, whieh witl; no doubt, be gfanted |

-for that purpose.” These, I conceive, to have beén' Hanfilds 1
jdeas ahd reflettions, .and the resuit has fally’ amwered‘ﬂis‘ex. |
- pectition. \

I ‘will‘ only ‘here make one further remark ‘as “to‘Hanfiel®s
- conftssion. If it was compunction'of conscience that com.
. pelled him to tonfess to'Sir John Carter, and if,” as he sajs, he
has felt ¢his - compunction ever since ‘the tommisston -of the
crime, why did he nat confess at Bow-strée\‘,'When‘he'was'm- |

knowledging



A3 -

knowledging angther offence? - Thiy wag surtly & most .favoure
able opportunity.for him to ease his conscience, and had he beex
guilty of the myrder, and his feelings such as he descnbes, he
would certainly have availed himself of it

The evidence of an accomplice, though admissible in.our
qeurts of -justico, is always received with great cantion, and,
inless confirmed, the judges uniformly direct an. acquittal ; and’
for this reagon: if.a man js wicked enoygh to commit a felony,
he will feel little hesitation,ln,éwearing falsely, to avoill the
punishment which must necessarily follaw. The confirmation
must be such as to bear. upon.the persons accused; and not.
merely prove the circumstances attending the offence ; for who

could 80 correctly describe them as a.iman councerned? and -

though he may..relate every, minnte, particular. respecting ‘the
felony, and receive complete confirmation therein, the persons
he accuses. ag his companions may be perfectly imnocent. The
statement of an accomplice should, in the first place, be- natow
ral and consistent in every particular; so as.not.to leave a
doubt as to its truth.: and it is further requisite, that some part
of his, statement, as it respects the. accused, should be con.
_firmed ; and the usual confirmations given in evidence are, that the
Juisoners have been seen in a sityation from which it may fairly
be presumed they participated in the offence, or that some of
the, praperty stolen was found in their. possession. That Han.
field's account is_in itself improbable and inconsistent, I think: .
bas been shewn; andif so, nothing is left to be done: for if
the foundation be. taken away, the whole edifice must necessa.
rily fall. But lest I should.not ‘have been successful, I will'
proceed ta point out the various eonfirmations his testimony, if
true, mjght have regeived; requesting the reader to observe
whether any such are afforded by the subsequent eyidence,
Fipse. As Hanfield states that he has been many years ace
quainted, with the prisoners, known a good deal of them, and
been much in their company, these circumstances, if true, could
readily have been proved; instead of which it turns oat, that
Ha.nﬁeld and Haggerty have been ierely seen in public-houses
) 2 at
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at the same time ; butit isby no meansclear that they associated
together, or that Holloway was ever in their company.

Seconpry. If they met at the Black Horse, and staid drink-
ing until the middle of 'the'day, the Landlord, or some one in
the house, could have proved that fact. ’

Trirory. If they drank together at a public.house on
Trenham Green, at the Bell, or were in or about Hounslow,
or on the western road, on the day: of the murder, or nearly’
about that time, he might have been confirmed by the land-
lord of either of those houses, or any other person who had
seen them on the mght of the murder, er any night about that
time.

Fourrary. Tha.t they returned together to the Bkck Horse,:
 after the house was shut up, and drank gin; this being a remark-
able circumstance, might naturally be expected to impress itself:
upon the landlord, arid he or some one belonging to the house
would surely have recollected it.

Firtury. That Holloway at any time wore a hat similar,
to that found at Hounslow. '

SixTuLy. That be for twe or three days wore a fine
new hat. .

Sevenrary. That Haggerty about the time of the murder,
‘was possessed d’ half-boots. '

Eicurrry. That the two prisoners and Ha.nﬁeld, on the
Monday after the murder, were in company together, and
drank at a house in Bridge-street, Westminster.

If these facts, orany of them, had been proved, it would have
tended to support and strengthen Hanfield’s testimony; and I am
conyinced that, from theingenuity, talent, and industry, of those
qnpioyed in conducting the prosecution, no pains nor éxertions
were wanting to seek for these very obvious confirmations;
and, if they could have been obtained, tliey would most assu.
redly have been given in evidence. For confirmations, espe.
cially those of an accomplice, are an object pnncxpolly at-

tended to in all prosecutions.

Jo;m
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Joun Viexery, an officer of the police-office, Worship-street, dev
, that on the 15th of November last he went to Langston Har-
bour, and received Benjamin Hanfield from the Captain of the hulks:
.that on their crossing Houuslow Heath &e pointed to the place.® That
Holloway was apprehended by a parish officer for Paddington, who
placed him in Clerkenwell prison, from which the witness took him
to John-street, Bedford-row + : that he read the warrant charging him
pn suspicion of the murder of Mr, Steele, To this he said, ¢ He was
innocent; he said, Oh dear ! I know nothing abous it. [ will down
pm my knees to you and the justice, if youwilllet me go."”

On the 2Uth of November, the Witness apprchended Haggerty, on
board the Shannon Frigate, in the Downs: he did not tell him for
what he was apprehended : he was so unwell, he was obliged to be-
lgt down out of the ship into the boat. Witnessadded, *¢ I wasapprehen-
give that he would not live to come to London.” He was taken be,
fore the Port Admiral, who asked him how long he had been a.
marine. He said two years, He was then asked where he was three
years ago? You could hardly hear him answer, he was sovery unwell,
He said, he didnot know; 1 believe that was the word. - The Admiral
then said, pray where were you four yeats ago ? Upon that he made na
reply. I saw his countenance alter ; he woyld have fallen backwards if
Iv!lad not caught him.” )

"Hanfield did not mention the stick, only the hat, which tallied with
the description he gave, as near as could be, in the way it was
mangled.” '

The circumstances stated by this witness,” as to Holloway
and Haggerty’s conduct, cannot, I conceive, have the least
weight against them. Holloway begs to be let go ; and declares
that he is innocent. Surely, here is nothing. that can be con-
strued into guilt. Haggerty’s countenance alters, and he

-

¥ T cannot conceive how this witness could tell whether he pointed fo the
place, as it does not appear that he was present at the finding  Mr. Steele’s -
bpdy, or any of the articles relating to the murder. The only persons examined
dpon the trial, who could have said whether he pointed out the spot correctly,
were Mr. Meyer, Mr. Mandy, Mr. Hughes, and Clayton, and it is rather ex«.
traordinary, that neither of them were asked the question.

4 The residence of Mr. Nan.e:.
. . would
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wauld -have fallen backward, il he had not. becn. easught, when

ssked where he was four years ago. If Haggerty bad been in

perfect health, and the question had produced such an effect

wpon him, it woild iindoubtedlyhave_been a circnmstance of
suspicion ; but, from the description given by Vickery, it ap-

pears that he could not get out of the ship without assistance ;

tixat it was douhtful whether he could live; and when asked:
where he was three years ago, he was so unwell that his angwer,
could scarcely be heard. If such were his situation, he ounght.
not to have been further interrogated, and any question to-which

his not giving - an immediate answer. would be urged as a cir-

cumstance of guilt, eught to have been avoided; particularly

when it is considered that he could scarcely articulate an an-

swer to the preceding question; whi¢h no one has pretended

could have produced a similar effcct. And as he was ohliged
to stand before the Admiral, he must naturally and unavoid.
ably have very soon fainted away, even without any interros
gation at,all, ' '

Jouwn Smrrn, coachman, depose(i; that in November 1802, he drove,
the Gaspart cpach, which left London at six, and got to Hounslow
nbout mght. That on the mght of Mr. Stcele’ s murder, when the_‘ ]
witness was between the trees and the eleventh mile-stone, he beard a
man moan as though in distress: he heard the groans twice; the first
Iouder thap the last. It was on /he nghl hand side, and apparently
behind. The rlght hand as lxq was going along.

T have before pointed ont the contradiction between this wit-
ness’s account of the groans, and that of Hanfield; the latter
stating that the murder and the groans’ were on the south side:
of the road; and thie coachman, that.the groans were. on the
north side.

Isasc Cravron, beadle at Hounslow, deposed, that he produced a
hat, stick, and shoes, befom Sir Rlchard Ford at Hounslow, whlch'
‘bebad reccived from Hughes; that. apout five or six yearsago he saw
Holloway with a turnjp team, with a map that Iml a wooden lcg, of.
the same pame; that be was not certain whether it was at the Bell,

or
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or at the Tukerville Arms 5 tNat he saw him at Worslip-strée¥ poficds
office, and said, ¢ I thought I know the man; / looked at hims vety
¢« hard; he said, 1 kwow you; I says, I knew you very welli I saw
+¢ you either at the Bell or the Tankerville Arms; ¥ saw you with &
« man of the same name; that had & woodeh leg, that came out of
¢ Buckinghamshire.” On his cross-examimation he said, tie'knew
-him because he-and the man with the wooden log *were of - the mnfe
-nume, and that he saw him at the Brentford election, aid that sehdd
n0 other reason for taking particular notice of Holloway, but that he vas
of the same name as the wooden-legged man."”

“Fo' my coriversation with' Holloway, after Ms conviction, o
“my wenfiohing what was sworn by this witness "as ‘to his
’haﬁng been at Hounslow, he answered, it was not true, he
‘never was there in his life; and gave the followmg account of
‘the manmer in which Clayton identified him when at the
office. ¢¢ He came and looked some time very hard in my face;
"¢¢ T asked him if he knew me; he said, what is your name?
. ¢ I told him Holloway ; upon'which he said, then I do know
¢ you; I saw you at Hounslow with arwooden-legged man of
¢¢ that name, that came out of Buckinghamshire; I knew the
%6 man, but I niéver'Wwas ini his company at Hounslow.” The
“evidence given by Clayton, to prove that hé saw Holloway at
- Hounslow, appears tome very slight indeed ; he says, he never
fsaw him there but once, and Zhat so long since as' five or six
“years,and he does not’ know at"which house, whether at the
- Bell or the Tankerville Arms. It should be remembered, that
* those houdes are'at a considerable distance from each other ; the
Tankerville Arms being at this end of the town, and the Bell the
- Tarthiest public-house ; and, indeed, béyond the town. He says,
" he saw him at the' Middleséx election at Bren*ford ‘It is true
- Holloway ‘was thére, serving as an ‘extra~constable during that
“election ; but, if the witness’s recollection were perfect, why
‘not th'en ‘recognize Him as the person he had seen with Oliver,
‘the name by which he also called the Prisoner; and why the
* mecessity of tooking at him very hard? The reason he gives
forkmow’mg hlm, or aking partitular notice, i ndlculous ;

¢¢ because
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¢¢ becausehe was of the same name with the wooden.legged man.? |
According to this, if he had been sent for to identify any other
man as having been at Hounslow, who should answer that his
name was Holloway, e would have sworn the same.

Josern TownsenD produced a bludgeon, a pair of shoes, an old hat,
and a strap, which he had received from the late Sir Richard Ford;
~ and Mr. Hughes-spoke to them as being those he found on the com-
Joon.

WirLiaw Buackmavw, a police-officer, deposed, that he had known
JHaggerty six or seven years, Holloway a. year and a half,.and Han-
field four or five years; that Hanfield and Haggerty kept company four
or five years; he had seen them at the Turk’s-Head, at the Maiden-Head
in Dyot-street, and at the Black Dog in Belton-street.—That about
four years ago, he saw Haggerty, Holloway, and Hanfield together.
He also saw Haggerty at the Turk’s-Head, dressed in a velveteen jacket
and brecches, and new hat; and observed that he had been in a good
thing lately, and asked what he was at? Haggerty answered, he was
working in the country, serving the plasterers, and, to-the best of tl’ie

“witness’s knowledge, he served at Houlnlow

)

If this witness has known Holloway only a year and a hdlf,
how can he swear that he saw him in company with the other
two four years ago? He must surely be mistaken. It appears,
too, that his only reason for believing Haggerty and Hanfield -
kept company was, that he saw them in different public-houses
at the same time. I think the witness must also be mistaken
as to Haggérty having mentioned Hounslaw as the place where
he worked. I asked Haggerty whether he had ever worked at
:Hounslow, or said hvhd s02 which he positively denied --bllt,
admitting he mentioned Hounslow, this would rather operate
in his favour; for, had he been conscious of committing mur.
der there, it would have been the last place at which he would
have stated himself to have worked. The Police Officers at
Bow-street were actively employed to trace the murderers; it
was from that Office, that the advertisement offering the reward
of fifty pounds was issued, and therefore hqd Haggerty really
worked
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iwotked at Houtislow, he wosld not huvé imiecessarily men.
tioriéd it to » Bow.stre,z dﬁcer, but would rather’ hm na,med
a cotitrary road.'” : ’

Eowarp Cuocxn, a Bowsstreet officer, depmd, that ke knew Hag-
gerty better than Holloway; that he also knew Hanfield, and had seen
Kim in company with Haggerty several times at the Turk’s Head and
Black Horse; that he had seen Haggerty walk with a blzck~thom’
stick ; he had a lame ancle. .

"This witness does not strengthen the evidence of the former,
as to the prisoner’s keeping company with Hanfield, er with
each other. Hanfield mentioned upon the trial, that a blacks:
thora stick was used, but it appears that he omitted to state.
awy thing about a stick to Vickery; and it was enly perhaps,
uponi his hmng learnt that one of the prisoners had beert staén‘ ,
with such a stick, that he thought proper to-introduce it.—
Huggenty told me, thut, about four. years ago, lie was so i
with 2 certain disease, that he was obliged to:have the assistancei
of a stick to watk, uﬂthﬁhemldmhmgoneonfouttm
Hounslow: for iy censideration. :

" Criisrornzr Jones, a Bow-street oﬂ’icer, deposed, thathe had known
Hunfield three years, Haggerty five, and Holloway about six months 5
that he had seen Haggerty and Hanfield together in different houses,’
and in the streets, about tlme years ago, but never saw Hollmy dnd
Hanfield together. '

- This witness, if ¢orrect, certamly goes farther than either of
the othiers ‘to prove that' Hanﬁeld and Haggerty were known
to each other, as he says he saw them together in the streets ;
but he does not state that they were associates, or that he had
seen themt in such situations as led him to suppose they went
out togethér to commit depredations, which he would, no
doubt, have stated if it had been the case.—1I have every reason
to believe it was not. Haggerty most positively denied that he
hadever been out with Hanfield, and said he wouldnot, aporiahy
account, have been concerned with him, as he was 2 bad'mad;
and, wpon my atking him to explain what he meant, he am

H - swered,
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swered, ¢ The first time I was in custody, a fellow-servant of
his was in the same prison, and he gave evidence against him,
and was the occasion of his being convicted.”” This explana-
tion was extremely natural, and a satisfactory reason why he

should not accompany him to commit depredations, as a thief ..
will always be suspicious of and refuse to associate with these -

who have been witnesses for prosecutions.

Ricrarp Linsrick, a Bow-street officer, merely deposed asto the
time he had known the two prisoners and Hanfield.

Covutw M‘Daxize, the landlord of the Black Horse, in Dyot-street,
deposed, that be bad known Haggerty nine or ten years, and Hanficld
five or six, and that he had seen them in one box in his house three
or four or five years ago, but not very often. On his cross-examina-~
tion, he said three different eompamel might be in the same box at
one time.

. It wag at this house that Hanfield says they met, staid drink-
ing till the middle of the day on which they went to Hounslow,
returned to it at midnight, and drank gin. But this witness
does not say that he ever saw the three men in company, or
even two of them drinking together upon any occasion. If he
could, he would have been questioned on that point by the
counsel for the prosecution.

Witetan Beave, landlord of the Turk’s Head, Dyot-street, deposed,
that he had known Haggerty three years, Hanfield two years, and
Holloway rather more than a twelve-month; that he had never seen
them all together, but had seen Haggerty and Hanfield together at his
house, about two years ago: they were both in the tap-room, but he
never saw them drink together, he did not know whether they were
in the same or different companies.

Jonn Perenson, who had formerly lived servant with the last wit-
nessjdeposed, that he had scen Haggerty and Hanfield together, at the
. Turk’s Head, and had frequently served them with beer.

The evidence of these officers and publicans does not prove
the prisoners and Hanfield to have been companions, or even
wccustomed to associate if they accidentally met. Holloway,

though
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though known to most of these witnesses, is not proved tor
have been - seem with either of the others, amd Haufield and
Haggerty being in. the houses at the same time, is no proef that
they were partners, |or( went_out thieving tegether. If their
evidence was intended merely to shew that Haggerty told a
falsehood in denying a knowledge of Hanfield, ¥ will admit that
he does this most satisfactorily ; but, at the same time, that it .
. proves Haggerty to have persisted in a falsehood ; it contradicts
Hanfield’s assertions that he had known a good deal of both the
prisoners, and been a good dealin their company. .

‘Jorn Sawyer, lived at the Bell, in Hounslow, in November 18023
said be had seen the prisoners about Hounslow, but at what time, or
whether together, or separate, or whether they were ever in that
house, he could not tell. But it was before he left Hounslow, and he
quitted in May 1803 ; he had not the slightest knowledge of Hanﬁeld.
He afterwards said, he would not be certain whether it was even in
_ Hounslow that he saw the prisoner, but it was in the nelghbourhood '
of Hounslow and Brentford; that he has lived at Hounslow the .
- greater part of his time, and since he left he has no recollection of

them ; he must have seen them in that peighbourhood. He very sel-
dom came to London then. ,

This witness was called for the purpose of contradicting the
assertion of the prisonérs, they having denied a knowledge of
Hounslow; but what does he prove? His evidence merely
amounts to this,—that he has at some time in his life seen them,
but upon what occasion, or where, or when, or whetheralone or
together he cannot tell ; and it might have been in London for
ought he knows. His only reason for supposing it was in
Hounslow or Brentford, or the neighbourhood of those places,
is, that he was the greater part of his life-there, previous to
1803; and he does not remember seeing them since he left
Hounslow. He thercfore concludes that it must have been
before he quitted it, And, as he seldom came to London, or left
the neighbourhood of his residence, he conceives that he could
not have seen them elsewhere. Such vague evidence to prove
men to have been at any given place was, perhaps, never

K2 ‘ admitted
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simitteddn a' cebirt of justice; but, evem had it been elearly
proved that they had been at Hounslow i somse part of their
Hves, if theywere not in company with Hadifield, and if it waa
not abaut the time of | Mr, Steele’s murder, it would only have
shewa that they had told a falsehood, and could mot haxe im
plicated them in that crime. Bat the nafortumate mem most
solemnly and repeatedly assured me they were never theres
and I cannot, from any evidence proeduced npoun the tria),
ase peason td doubt the truth of their assertions in that parti.
cular.

Jonx Nanxs, Esquire, 2 magistrate for the county of Mlddlesex,
depoied that be examined the prisoners separately, and read to thém
what Hanfield hiad said. Haggerty denied that he had ever seen Han-
field ; aid, that, during the winter of 1802, he worked for a Mr.
Smith, in Castle-street, seven dials ; that he was never in Dyof-treet,
at the Black Horse, with Hanfield or Holloway, in his life; that he
was never at Hounslow; denied being with Hanfield at the Black Dog
or;l‘nrk’a Head, or knowing any of the Bow-street officers. Mr. Nares

* further deposed, that Mi. Smith, for whom Maggerty had said he

worked at a particular time, being sent for, declared the prisoner did
not work for him at that time.

* That Holloway said he knew Hanfield, but never was at any public-
house with him, except when they came out of prison togetherin
1804, when they went to the Buffalos’s Head, in the New Road, butdid
not drink there together. He said he had known Haggerty about two
years, but never was in his and Hanfield’s company; ¢hat he was )
pever near Hounslow, or worked there in his life; that, upon being
guestioned as to where he worked in November 1603, be answered, for
Mr. Rhodes and Mr. Stedman,. and ﬁ:i;hﬁ'era.t people.” These.
were allexamined, and denied that he vorkgl forthem at that time,

" It may very readily be conceived that lgnorant men, in that
situation of life, would be utterly incapable of stating, with

. aceuracy, how they had been employed at a parﬁcular tlme

foyr years back. Had they led regular lives, they could un-
questionably have mentioned where they lived, and with whom ;
but, of men like them, who were sometimes working where they
could get employment, and at others thnevmg, xt was asking too

much,
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much. If the repdor doubt this, let me ask him where Ls

. himself was that day four years; and should this be dificuls

to-bring even to our owa recoliestion, how much mere so to .

proveitio others.

Can it be expeited, then, that men, of loose and wngnhl
Lizes, should be able to prove the like satisfactorily in o court of
justice 2--These men did not pretend to recollect where they
were; hut, had they mentioned fifty persons who could have

. stated that they recollected the prisoners being in their com.

pamy on the 6th of November 1802, who would have believed
them? Itis not in the nature of things that a man can retain
every trifling circawstance, 5o as to prove, at the expiration of
four years, what happened on a given day and hour ; and those -
who are conversant with courts of justice, well know that in

" nothing do witnesses vary se much asin hours and dates.

Next, as to Haggerty’s denial of Hanfield and Holloway, it
does net, in my mind, operate at all against him. He explained
jt to me in this way,— When I first saw him before the magis~
4. trates, 1 was ill, and had not my recollection very well at
€¢ the time, and I was asked if I knew that man ; and, as his
¢ name was not mentioned, and he was in a different dress to
$¢ what I had .cver seen him in, I did not know him, and told
¢¢ the magistraies eo ; afterwards, when I heard his name, I knew

¢ himp directly : but, a3 he was a bad fellow, and I found he 4

¢¢ was swearing lies against me, I thought it best to coutinue my
¢¢ denia of him.” But, snpposing Haggerty to bave been ever -

" 80 well acquainted with Hanfield, and that he knew him the

instan¢ he saw him, still it ought not to be taken as a proof of
bis guilt, as it is well known that thieves, when apprehended,
always deny knowing each other, and indeed, most frequently,
every person and circumstance respecting which they are .
quéstioned ; very naturally conceiving that the questions ars’
ssked with a view to implicate them in some offence, and that
it is the safest way to demy every thing hence, therefore,

Haggerty denied Holloway and the Bow.street officers.
Hollowey’s accouns of his knowlcdge of Haufield does not
appear
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apywer te de contradicted : but it is urged against him, that he
Weentiwias the names of persons for whom he worked in Novem.
v WM whereas, upon enquiring, it turns out that he did
wot work for/them’ at'that time'; 'the fact being, that e was
wistaken ina year. When Mr. Nares was giving his evidence,
Molloway thus explains it; ¢¢ The mistake that was made was
this=I made a mistake in a year: the persons that I had said
1 worked for in the year 1802, I worked for them in 1803 and
lm »

If he had been concerned.in this murder, he wowld only
have given a false account as to where he was on the particular
day it was committed. There would have been no necessity
for him to misrepresent as to the whole month ; for, as he must
know that the “persons he named would be applied to, it
would have better suited his purpose to have been accurate in
thia respect. He could have no motive to conceal where he
was at any other time than on the 6th of November. Bat it wil .
_appear evident, from the conversation overkieard by the-officer,
that he himself belxeved he was working for Mr. Stedman at
that time.

The next evidence prodnced on the part of thé prosecution,
was, the private conversation which had been overheard by a
police officer. Before I state the particulars, I cannot but ob.
serve, that it is much to be régretted, that an officer should
have been placed to hear conversations between prisoners, which
were to be used as evidence against them. Ifhe be a conscientious -
man, it places himin a very unpleasant situation ; for he mast be

- aware that confessions proved by officers are always viewed
with suspicion, and for this reason: officers are interested:
in convicting offenders; and, though they may not wilfully
misrepresent for the sake of the reward, they must, from their
employment, have a bias against personsaccused. Hence they
anxiously seek for every circumstance that will make against
the prisoners, and are sure to remember every thing said by
them, which will operate to their prejudice; while they pass
over, as m'elevant, sueh things as are favourable. For these rea-

N
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. sons, a police officer was the last man for such an employment:

- but rather one should havebeen selected who was perfectly disin-
terested ; ome who wonldnot have taken any share of the fifty
pounds reward ; one who would have felt as anxious to obtain
proofs of the innocence of these mén as of their guilt; one
who was capable of writing short-hand, and who could there.
fore have taken down the whole of what was said.

" Daner Busuop, police efficer, of Worship-street, deposed, that the
prisoners were examined seven different times, and after each day’s
examination were confined in two separate lock-up rooms hehind the
office, divided by strong partitions of quartering covered with iron
plate. The witness was_in the privy, within four feet of them, and
<oold hear what they said when they spoke loud enough. On his cross-
examination, he said, there was some conversation he couldnot hear, and
of course did not take it down. The witness read a vast deal, as being
conversation he had overheard between the prisoners. The greater
part was unimportant : the following passages are those to which Mr.
Guraney directed the attention of the Jury. ' ,

Haggerty. Did you tell them you know’d me ?—Holloway I dc-.,
nied it entirely. - )

Haggerty. Where is it you told them you saw me ?—Holloway. At
the top of Dyot-street s you know I must say somewhere thereabeut.
Which way did he say we came over the back fields ?---Haggerty.
don’tknew. . :

Holloway. 1 know, that beadle told thcm what cloaths I wom, or
" they would never have known it.
Haggerty. Whereis it he said we parted with lum tee-Holloway. At
" Hounslow.--Holloway. Where did he say we kad the gin ?--- Haggerty.
At the Black Horse ?—Haggerty. We must have had the gin there.

Having already observed upon the subject of their denial of
each other, I do not feel it necessary to say any thing fur.
ther on that head ; but I cannot account for Haggerty’s asking
Holloway, where did you tell them you knew me? after the
latter had denied knowing him at all ; and, if Holloway admitted
that he knew Haggerty, I cannot. perceive why it was neces.
sary that he should state he saw him in Dyot-street. As'to
the question respecting the back fields, there can be nothing

) e in
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init: it was merely asking how Hdnfield had described they
came home; but, had they actually been. his companions im snch

- & transaction; would not their own comsciences have made thent
vecollect every particular that had traaspired? They must have
known that he ‘'spoke the truth, and woulkd not therefore have
questioned each other on the suliject.

I cannot unflerstand the obeervation atiribwied to Hollowsy
respecting the-beadle describing his cloaths. I do not see how
it makes against him, or what evidence in the case applies to
give it importance. Clayton, the beadle, gives no description
of his dress; and if he did, to whom does it make him or his
cloaths kmown?

. The question as to where he Trad said ﬂley had paned‘ w:dl'

" him is not material, irnless to shew that Holtoway was mistaken,
or the officer misunderstood what was said; for, according to
Hanfiel®s cvidence, they joined at Hounslow, instead of parting
there. But we now come to that which was relied on as the
strong corroboration; namely, Holloway asks, ¢ Where did
he say we had the gin ?-—Haggerty. At the Black Horse.—

Haggerty. We must have had the gin there:”

Could it be supposed, that if these two men had boen coneemeﬁ
with Hanfield in this murder, had set off from the Black Horse,
a house with which they were well acquainted, and- that this
was the only house whero they went and drank on that night after
the murder was committed ; Isay, had all this been true, could
they in four years have forgotten it? If not,-both the question
and answer would have been unnecessary and absurd. If they bad
been to many different houses, and drank different lignors, and
Hanfield had deseribed the' liquors they drank at each house,
they might probably have forgotterr- whether he was speaking
correctly of one int particular, and have asked each other ; but,
even were it possible that onc of them had forgetten the cir.
cumstance, the conversation, as Bishop states it, is far from na.-
taral. The word must not only tmpliag that he who nsed it,
But he also, to whom it was addressed, doubted ; and Haggerty,
therefore, before he had said ‘¢ We must have had the gin there,”-

would




57

wonld have asked his companion ¢ Did we have gin there i
.and if he had answered, I don’t know, or I forget, the words
would then have been.more consistent. y

I am satisfied 'that ‘none-but'a'short.hand writer can take
down a conversation, even if placed in the most advantageous
situation : and even then would be liable to mistakes and omis-
sions. It is well known that liw-cletks, when writing from
dictation, and receiving short sentences, ate frequently obliged -
to ask the dictator to repeat.

. If this be the case with men constantly accustomed to writing,
and who have every possible convenience, how can it be ex-
pected that a police officer, in a dark confined place, without
a desk, and separated from the parties conversing, should be
able to write the whole of what passed, both question and
answer, together with the names of the parties. I am sure he
could not. He must have supplied some words from recollec-
tion ; and the introduction of one word, though apparently
trifling, may niake a very great difference in the meaning of 2
whole sentence. This may be illustrated in the very words sb
* strongly urged against the prisoners ‘¢ We must have had the
gin there.” Let but the meonosyllable in italics be omitted, and
the reader will perceive, the sentence bears a very different
interpretation. The Black Horse was resorted to by the
prisoners ; they had probably drank gin there, and per-
haps together. Hence, their saying we must have had gin
-there, or, we have frequently bad gin at the Black Horse,
could not have been construed against them. Whereas the
article ¢ THE” renders the conversation applicable to the gin
which Hanfield had mentioned.

Let us next conslder the omissions whlch arose, as the officer
says, from his being unable to hear all that passed. If he was
s0 situated, his evidence ought not to weigh a feather in the scale
against the prisoners. ;"The conversations proved by him are
completely unconnected, and it will be evident that something
is wanting to render them intelligible : this somcthing is omitted
on account of the officers either not hedring distinctly, or

1 from
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from his not being able to keep pace with the conversation, I
remember upon some occasion hearing Lord Erskime, when
at the bar, and ‘expatiating on the necessity of collecting the
impt‘)rt of a writing\fromlaview ©f the/ whole, and not from de.
tached parts, illustrate his argument by a quotation from scrip-
ture, where it is written, ‘“ There is no God;”’ whereas these

words are a part of a very opposite assertion, viz. ¢ The .

Jool hath said ¢n his heart, There is no God.”

So, with these men; the officer would be extremely anxious
to take down that which weighed against them, being placed
for - this purpose alone ; and, while he was writing what
appeared to criminate them, they might be saying that which
completely explained it, so as to render the objectionable pas-
sages consistent with their innocence; for instance, We must
have had gin there, but never with him.

1 should here state, that upon my asking the prisoners how
they could explain the cbnvergation respecting the gin, they
answered, that no sugch words had passed; that they never
drank with Hanfield any where; and therefore could not have

acknowledged drinking with him at the Black Horse ; that they

merely questioned each other as to what he had said in the

* office.

Having observed upon those parts of the conversations which

the prosecutors particularly pointed out to assist their case,
let us now sclect those which weigh in favor of the accused. -

It will be recollccted that they had mo idea they were over.
heard, but imagined they were alone, and thereforc had no
reason for disguise or misrepresentation.—Holloway said—
¢¢ T wonder where they got that hat and shoes: they won’t fit
me.” A man who had been concerned in the murder, and left
his own hat at the spot, could not have made this observation
to his associate in the ctime, withou‘t‘ cailing for this answer,why

the hat must fit yob., it is yours; and the shoes are mine.,
¢ Haggerty. 'The murder was done four years ago, and he
says he was in the House of Correction ; how should he know
any thing about it?” Now if these threc men had committed
) , . . the
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the murder, could Haggerty have supposcd that Hanfield was
" in the house of correction at the time?

% -Haggerty. ‘Did you work for Stedman this time four
years ?'~—<¢\ Holloway:i 0To (besure I did ; I worked for him
eighteen months.”—And in another place he says; ¢ If T was
at Stedman’s at the time, we never shut up shop before
twelve or one.”—< Haggerty. And was not you there?’—
¢ Holloway. Yeswas, and that will clear me.”” From this it
is evident that Holloway supposed he was working for Sted-
man at the time the murder was committed: and it would be
the height of absurdity to imagine, that he was atttem pting to
persuade the man concerned with him in the murder, that he was
elsewhere when it was perpetrated.

Upon reference to the conversations, it will be perceived that
the prisoners both denied a knowledge of Hounslow. Harr-
gerty says, I never worked at Hounslow ; and Holloway thus
. expresses himself: ¢ The old beadle said afterwards, he did not
know me, forI never worked where they said ; they may laugh
and swear as much about Houmslow as they please; but I
don’t know nothing about Hounslow.” And Haggerty, in ano-
ther part of the conversation, says, ‘I worked at Gardner’s,
near Bow.strcet, and be has run away since: I can tell the’
. very day and hour where I worked;” and again, ‘¢ I know
where I worked in November ; I know the v'ery ‘street
and house; but it is no use talking here about it.” Had
these men been concerned together in the murder, would this
have been their language ?—Instead of telling each other where
they supposed themselves to have becn employed, would they
"not have consulted together what story they should frame,
and where they should say they had been on that particular night ?

There are several other expressions tending to evince their
innocence ; but in no instance an acknowledgement of guilt ;.
which surely would have dropped from them, had they been

really the murderers, and considered themselves alone.
It has been observed to me, that no direct assertion of inno- -
culcc was madc by them in those conversations. The reason
12 ’ 4 why
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why none was sworn o by the officer I can readily imagine. No
- one cgu doubt, that the prisoners frequently, declared their
innocence when before the magistrate ; but not a word of this
was taken down or proved by Mr. Nares. Declarations made
by prisoners are seldom noticed in the proceedings before magis.
trates, unless they make against them. If a man say heis innocent,
it passes unnoticed ; butif he acknowledge his guilt, or say any
thing from which it can be inferred, such sentences are sure to
be written down, and adduced as evidence against him. Bishop
had heard their public declarations of innocence in the office,
and well knew they are never attended to. He was not sta.
tioned to hear these assertions, but to learn what might weigh
against the Prisoners. All, therefore, that Bishop thought mi.
litated against them he would be careful to set down,while their
assertions of innocence would pass unnoted. '

Wiieiax Rosivson Shatter, and William Britten, shoe-maker, were
the last witnesses called; the former to prove that, upon looking at
Holloway’s head, he should think Mr. Steele’s hat would fit him tight ;
the latter, that the shoes produced appeared to have been worn by

some person for whom they were too long; that seeing Haggerty’s

feet he thought they were too long for him ; that he believed he might
have worn Mr. Steele’s hoots. _It was also proved that an old hat of
M. Steele’s had been tried on, and fitted Holloway.

The learned Judge observed, that this evidence amounted.to
nothing ; that the hat of Mr. Steele would fit any man whose
head was of the same dimensions; and that it did not appear
that Haggerty ha:l_ worn boots.

I have now gone through the evidence for the crown, and made
such ebservations as to me appeared applicable. To those who
possess superior discernment, I have no doubt many: other in-
consistencies will occur ; but I flatter m yself, sufficient have been
shewn to create a doubt in every impartial mind, If this has

"been done, I am satisfied.

If it be asked, why were not these inconsistencies urged to

the jury? it should be remembered, that counsel retained to de.

fend
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fend prisoners charged with felony, are not permitted to address
the jury, and until the trial had actually commenced, their
counsel was not apprised of the evidence to be produced against
them; he was merely made acquainted with a few short parti.
culars, by no means'sufficient to prepare him even to direct his
cross-examination, so as to shew the -improbabilities here
poiuted out.* ’ '

It will appear somewhat strangé ‘that the defence should thus
have been delayed to the last moment. Ten dayé had elapsed -
between the commitment and trial, which ‘was all the notice the
prisoners received, having been kept during the previous three

- months in solitary confinement, and therefore disabled from

procuring exculpatory evidence. This space of ten days surely
could not have been too long, even had they possessed the
means of making the best use of it, when'it is considered that
no trouble or expense was spared in the prosecution, that
it was conducted with the active and praise-worthy 'zeal of
many able and- ingenious gentlemen, and that it occupied
the whole of the time the prisoners were confined. In facty
only two or three days before the sessions commenced, Hollo.

" way’s father, an industrious honest man (bailiff to a small es.

tate) applied to me, saying he had been recommended to me to
defend his son, and as there was so short a time to prepare for
trial, and he had not then the money to fee counsel, he should
wish it to be put off till. the following sessions. I told him, as
the charge was so serious, it would be most ‘advisable, and.
that I would see the prisoners,—I found them also desirons
that their trial should be put off, but as they said, they had.
no material witness absent, and as the only ground-upon which

* Mr. Humphreys, solicitor for the prosecution, who conducted his depart-
ment with that ability and candour which mark the whole of his professional
practice, offered, should I be concerned, to let me look over the depositions ;
but, the shert interval between the time I was employed and the trial, pre-
vented my availing myself of the opportunity ; that interval being already in-
luﬂicien_t for the slender preparation it afforded.

. / the
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the application could be made to the court was the short time
they had been allowed to prepare for their defence, I told them
the court might probably, using its discretion, refuse the appli-
cation, and that they|should becprovided against such refusal.
‘Holloway said, that neither he nor his father had any money :
Haggerty represented, that his only resource was an application’
to his regiment for the arrears of pay which had accrued since
his imprisonment, and begged I would write to his adjutant for
~ the amount, which T did, in his name ;¥—and I heard no more
respecting them nntil Thursday, the day before the trial, when
T was told that the fathers of both were seeking me. On seeing
“the prisoners, they said they had made up their minds to take
their trial; that nothing could, with truth, be brought against
them ;, and, upon my observing that I understood the material
and strongest part of the prosecutors’ case was what had passed
in their private conversations in the lock-up rooms at Worship-
street, they answered, that they wercinnocent; that they had
always, both publicly and privately, said 5o ; and that if the
officer spoke the truth, he must acknowledge it. I therefore
. prepared, as well as I was able, the instructions, which were
thie following morning delivered to Mr. Andrews, their counsel.
I caunot pass over this part of my narrative without saying,
that in my humble opinion the public have much reason to re-

~ gret, that thcse'unforguhate men were unprovided with the means
of defence. It would have been much inore satisfactory to have
known that they possessed the means of vindicating their inno-

‘

eence.——The prosecution was carried on under the direction, of.

government, and with the public money ; the minute investiga.
tions respecting the prisoners must have shewn its conductors
that they were in the greatest indigence, and even without a
shilling. VVas"this made known to the secrctary of state? I
cannot think it was: or surely, considering the peculiar cir~

#* The day after his condemnation he told me be had received an answer,
from the adjutant, informing him, that, being an absentee from the regiment,
he was not intitled to pay.

‘ eumstances,

)
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rumstanoes, they would not have boen left thus (lestntute till
* the last moment. -
The hardship of depriving men charged with felony of the
assistance of 'counsel’ to"address 'the jury, has been generally
- considered, by the first of legal authorities, as a defect in our
criminal code, which affords much less security to life than the
rest of our laws do to the most insignificant property. 1In the
most trifling assaults, eounsel for the defendant are permitted
to address the jury. If a man dispute with his neighbour re-
specting a right of entry, or the breaking a fence, and an ac-
tion of trespass be brought, the result of which, if against the
defendant, is usually a mere nominal fine, both parties are
heard, at great length, by their counsel. But, if a man be
charged with breaking a house in the night, for which he may
. forfcit his life, his counsel cannot make a single observation to "
the jury, though the prosecutor’s counsel open the case, state
the evidence, and by ingenious arguments apply it as forcibly
as possibly against the accused. A man charged with felony
is more in need of the full assistance of counsel than in any
other case; not only because the very confinement disables
him from self-defence, but because, in proportion to the mag-
nitude of tlie charge, 8o will -be the perplexity and confusion
of the accused.. The most innocent of men could not avoid
agitation, when put onnhis trial, in a crowded court, for an of-
fence which not only impeaches his character, but affects his
life. Nay, the more falsely he is sworn against, the greater
his agitation, and the less is he master of his own powers. In
addition to this, he may be ignorant of the law, unqualified for
public debate, and unable to find words to explain his ideas
with perspicuity and force, or even intelligibly. - He may be
. unmacquainted with the legal points, or what facts bear against
him, and weigh most with the court and jury; he may waste
his energies, and tire his hearers, on objects which irritate his
feclings ‘without affectidg the case. Is a man, thus circum-
sfanccd, enabled to address the jury with effect? how can he
show any inconsistencies that they have arisen during a

‘trial
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trial of mauy hours, or state circumstances which would best
demonstrate his innocence? and does not such a code appear
to savour of vulgar prejudice against every man brought to the
bar of a crimindl\éonrt?(does notisuch a code require a conti-
nuation of thatamendment, which it has a.lrea,dy partly received
since the times of feudal barbarism ?

In cases of high treason, with which persons of superior rank
are subject to be charged, and in which the crown may be sup-
posed to take an interest, the legislature, though not tilk the
7th Will, ITI. and 20th Geo. II. have taken every necessary
precautnon to give the accused the best means of defence :—not

only are counsel permitted to address the jury, but the prie
soner may select two gentlemen from the bar, who are assigned
him by the court or judge to plead his cause; besides which,
he must be furnished with a copy of the indictment, a list of all

the witnesses to be produced, and of the jurors to be impa~

nelled, ten days previous to the trial. If somuch care be taken
s to one capital crime, ought not similar lenity to be shewn to
those accused of other offences ?

The following quotation from Blackstone's Commentaries,
vol. IV, p. 355, shews the opinion that learned Judge enter-
tained of the incquality of the criminal laws in this respect.

¢¢ It is a scttled rule at common law, that no counsel shall

" €¢ be allowed a prisoner upon his trial, upon the general issue,
¢ in any capital crime, unless some point of law shall arise,
¢ proper to be debated. A rule, which (however it may be
¢¢ palliated under cover of that noble declaration of the law,
¢ when rightly understood, that the judge shall be counsel
¢ for the prisoner; that is, shall sce that the proceedings

- ¢¢ against him arelegal and strictly regular) seems to be not at

¢ all of a piece with' the rest of the humane treatment of pri-

EN

¢¢ soners by the English law. For upon what ;a.ce of recason -

¢ can that assistance be denied to save the life of a man,
¢¢ which .yet is allowed him in prosecutions for every petty
¢ trespass? Nor indeed is it, strictly speaking, a part of our
¢¢ ancient law : for The Mirrour, having observed the necessity
¢ of counsel in civil suits, who know how to forward and

defend
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%< defend the cause, by the rules of Jaw and customs.of the '
¢ realm, immediately after subjoins; ¢and more necessary are’

£¢ they for defence upon indictments and appeals of felony,
¢ than upon/ other vemial causes;’ And the judges them-
4% sclves are so sensible of thix defect, that they never scruple
¢¢ to allow a prisoner counsel to instruct him what questions to
¢ ask, or even to ask questions for him, with respect to mat.
¢¢ ters of fact; for, as to matters of Jaw arising on the tria],
¢¢ they are entitled to the assistance of counsel.” -

- Is it not a hardship upon prisoners, that those employed to
defend them should not be entitled to a copy of the informations2
i.e. theevidenceadduced before the magistrate, The final ex-
amination of a prisoner is always open, and the depositions of
the witnesses publicly read in his presence; but, whether from
ignorance, agitation, or want of memory, he is generally un.
able .to retain what was sworn; and, as it most frequently
occurs, that no solicitor or counsel is employed till after commit-
ment, how cana prisoner instruct them so to shape his defence
‘as to meet the charge, especially if he be innocent? For, in
that case, the facts are completely new to him. The attorney

"for the presecution, indeed, has copies of the deposition, though
to him wholly unnecessary, as he knows from the witnesses
what testimony they can give; while those employed by the
prisoner are not allowed even a sight of them, however impore '
tant, were it only to inform him who the witnesses are, -and
enable kim to enquire into their credibility. The facts sworn
may be false; but how are they to bg investigated and dis-
proved, unless they be known? And, as the depositions are
publicly read, why the necessity for keeping their contents a. -
secret to those who may afterwards be employed in the defence ?

There have been a few instances in which the rale of final.
examination being public has been departed from ; one, in par.
ticular, bas come within my own immediate observation. I
was employed by the relations of a woman accused with for.
-ging banknotes, and attended in order to be present at the
&ll ezsmination; hut, to my astonishment, I learnt, that the

K solicitor

"
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solicitor for the prosecution' had requested the magistrate to
refuse admittance to any professional man on the part of the.
prisoner. To this request the magistrate had acceded, and
I was therefore/\réfused ‘admissionl|). What afterwards passed,
shewed the impropriety of a private examination. '

T wajted till it was over, when the bank solicitor informed

me, that if I would persuade the prisoner to plead guilty to an
indictment, charging her with unlawful possession of.forged

notes, the bank would not try the capital charge. On my'

secing the prisoner she was greatly agitated, and unable to tell
what had been sworn against her, but said she was innocent g
and, as I was ignorant of the case, I could not advise her to
* 'plead guilty to a charge, of which, for any thing I knew to tha
contrary, she might be innocent, and a conviction on which
would subject her'to fourtecn years transportation.

A similar application for a final examination being private
upon a bank prosecution, I believe has been made to the pre-
scnt chief magistrate of police, but he very humanely admitted
‘the solicitor for the prisoners to be present.

I shall next describe the éonduct of the sufferers from con.
viction to punishment.

I have alrcady stated their uniform denial of being accessary
1o, or having any concern in, or knowledge of, Mr. Steele’s mur. '

der. In order to judge of the sincerity of those denials, I,
with all the ingenuity I possessed, and without letting them
perceive my object, endeavoured to discover whether they had
any latent hope of respite, or were actuated by a desireto
preserve their characters from the foul imputation of murder.
Bat I could not discover the slightest circumstance whereon to
ground such a supposition. They seemed perfectly convinced
.that the world was so prejudiced against them, that they would
always be considered the murderers, unless some strong and con-
vincing facts should hereafter arise, from which their innocenoe
would be rendered apparent, or the real murderers should be

nltimat_ely detected. And they always expressed a confident .

hope
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. hope that such would be the case; but, as_to their punishment
 beitig delayed dr averted, thej, in my oli'mion, éntertained not
the least expectation of it. Nay, they never once intimateg a
wish. that I should make .any application on tlfeir behalf,
though 1 endedvonred todead them to it by asking if there
was any thing they wished me to do for them, any message I
could take, or any communication they wished me to convey -
to any onc.  To all which they answered in the negative,. In
short, they seemed perfectly resigned to their fate, and at the |
last moment met it with the calmness and foxntude becommg
imnocent mren and christians. .

. Kbelieve T have before stated that their demals were always .
made in a decent and respectful manner. I must again repeat
that nothing could be more.so, They never appeayed the least .
captious* or vexed at the numberless importunities they were
subjected to ; but were always ready to answer every question.
They frequently called God to witness the.truth of their asser«
tions, but always with solemnity ; and I particularly qbserved,,;
that, whenever Haggerty mentioned the name of G‘qd, he.took.
off his hat in token of reverence. . oy

The night befare the unfortunate men suﬂ'ered, t.hey were .
placed in separate cells, and each had persons remaining with
them during the night, to assist in' their devotiqns. , Holloway
was attended by the Rev. Mr. Knight, who officiates at the
Rev. Mr. Rowland Hill’p Chapel, and- a young gentleman
whom he brought with him. This he: was induced to do,.as
he had- not had any. previous knowledge .0F communication .
with the prisoner, and could ot therefore judge of kis disa.
position ; and, as he was charged with so horrid a crime as
murder, Mr. nght felt some apprehensxon for- his own
personal safety.

A respectable man of the Catbohc Religion accmnpamed
Haggerty, as did also a prisoner of the name of Nowlan.
The conduct of the prisoners during the night is thus described.

! . K2 The
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The Rev. Mr. Knight's Account of Holloway's Conduct. :

"On Sunday afternoont T was requested by Holloway’s father-
to attenid his $on during the might, to which I consented, and
went to his celf between 10'and 11 '0"clock that evening, accom.
panied by a friend. " I told him I was'come to sit up- with him,”
if e had no objection ; he'answered, he was much obliged to
mé; and in a few minutes we were locked up, and commenced
our devotrrms, occasionally singing hymms, praying, and con-
versing.’ He joimed most fervently in prayers, and endeavounred.
to join in singing, and one hymn he gave out Mmself. About*
12 o’tlock he became heavy to sleep; and; in the course of the
night, slépt three, times'; the last time whs by far thelongest;
and, in the whele, ‘he slept about three hours’; each tine Ne
awoke, he resamed his devotions. - T' particularly watclied him
white' he slept, and’ Ne' was. perfectly cafii and mndistiibed ;
not everl a'sigh or groan escaped'Him dering the might, elﬂrer“
asteep orawake; but, whileoccupied in prayer, be'wept much,
and the teary’ ran’down his face abandantly: sfter his de.

- votion was ended, he became serete arid composed, and simfled”

complacently. ¥ asked Him what madé bim feel so comfortable H

hé zmswcr;é‘ because he was Innocent. T admomished h#h as to'
the importance of not telling a’falsehood inhis tast moments, and.
spoke to him with solemnity of: lis being dbout to enter inte
the presence of thé Almighty 5 he still asserted his ‘innocence ;
ot which, we ‘both said it wat'a shocking thing, #he was'in
nocent. —-He answered, - ‘¥ am, aml ifl youw dre within' the
¢¢ sound of’ my véict, you will hear mre declare my innocence
¢ n my last momen(s.” In the course of the might, hc ex-
pressed a wish that a few days would be'given;, to use-his own'
words, to clear up things. About 5 o’clock, a Jotter was put-
throngh the grating of the cell, désiring tis' to continue our e
votions, as wo Hopes could be entertaine® of respite; I readt
it'to him ; it made o visible alteration in his appearance or be-
haviour; he was still perfectly msiglléd, and as he drew nearer:
to.eternity, his appearance was improved.. At about half.past

- : 8ix,
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six, the doors were unlocked, and wé went inta a small ‘Foom
near thie cells to breakfast. While we were there, he told Mr.
Suter he wished to speak .to him, and the Matter folléwed hirk
out. The object of thi¢ interview, I understand, was agaid
solemnly to/\decldre '€ Hiin his Tinocence.® The demial of Hid
guilt, just before he went out to suffer, was delivered in the mos€
impressive manner I ever witnessed.” Through the whol¢ of thd
condict of this man, that came under my obscrvation, I could

not discover the slightcst indications of hardencd depravity : he

appeared to me sincerely contrite, and to feel a pfoper sense of
lus melancholy situation.”

The genfleman who sat up with Haggerty said, ¢ I went to
his cell about haif-past T0 o’clock on Sunday ; Haggerty thanked
me for my Kindness'in coming to spend the night; and, for
some minutes there wasa solemn silence, which was mberruptetf
by my urging him to comply with the wishes of his fncnds,
and the public at large, by an explicit confessions He an.
sivered, he could not do otherwise than as he had already dones
he'was innocent, and could not but declare it, and should as.
srt his innocence at his last moment. We theh commenced
rellgwus duties, in which he fervently Jomed and appeared

fally impressed with a sensé of his duty towards God. I men. B

tioned to him- that his criminality would be much increased, it

He were really guilty, by denyingit; and that, above all thmgs, .

he should be explicit with his Divine. , He appeared perfectly
aware that he could not assert a falsehood, and call God tg
witness its truth, without endangering eternal pumshment. i
asked him ¢¢ what he thought of Hanfield; he answered, that
€ he occupied the least of his thoughts.” T told him, ¢¢ what,
little you do think, ought to be as favourable as possible; you

. .o

3.

¥ Tite folowing is what passed, as velated by Mr. Suter. When thay were
alone, Holloway tock Suter’s bands, pressed them between bis own, and fre--
quently repeated, ‘ Mr. Suter,I am innocent, Iam iunocent:” he then droppeds

down upon his knees, and said, I am innoceut by God.” He avose, and:
Klssed Suter's cheek,

should
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should be sorry he is 80 abandoned, and lost to all sense of relis
gion and morality, and should forgive him the injury he has
done you:” he replied, ¢ It is a hard thing to forgive a man -
that takes away my life unjustly.” I thew pomte}t out to him
the necessity of his forgmngall injuries, however great; and, after
some apparent inward struggles with his mind, he said, ¢ well,
1 do forgive him : I forgive him from my heart ;" he frequently
vepeated, e could not die better than for that he was innocent
of. In thecoursq of the night, Haggerty gave the following
particulars, which I wrote down at the time. “¢ Hanfield, dur-
ing his confinement in Cold Bath Fields, acknowledged to some
of his fellow-prisoners, that he himself was the only person
concerned in the murder of Mr. Steele* ; one to whom he men.
. tioned it, was in the habit of working in the garden, but has
since left ; he was commonly called thegardener. Hanfield told
one Timothy Sulivan, a prisoner in Cold Bath Fields, that Hol-
leway knew nothing of the murder. He also sent frequent -
messages by one Thomas.Eady, the wardman of the infirmary,
to Haggerty, to make himself contented, that he should soon
be discharged, and he himsclf sent on board sflip, and that no
barm wounld come to cither of them. Hanficld told Jones, &
soldier, that he would deny every thing he had said when
he should be examined again: he wished he had not had any.
thing to do with it; and would be very glad if they would drop’
all, and let him serve the remainder of his time there. A prisoner,
of the name of Flowers, asked him why he detained Holloway
and Haggerty ; he replied, with a horrid imprcca‘tion,‘that it was-
better they should be detained there a month or two, than he
should be sent back to his old lodgings.” ’

¢ Ie was very desirous that enquiries shoyld be made respect.
ing those particulars, and said he had no doubt that his inpo.
cence would shortly be made to appear.”

¢¢ At his request I wrote a letter to his mother, of which the

* Thls seems to have been rather an mfereuce frotm the following expres«
sions, than the words used,
following'



T

71

fellowing is a copy; he furnished me with the facts it contains,
which I put in my own language.”

. MY DEAR AND MOST AFFECTIONATE MOTHER,

I am convinced, from that motherly and’
parental affection which you ever -used towards me, that you
cannot lose sight of me in this moment of affliction, and have
therefore forwarded these, in which I hope you will re.
ceive a lasting comfort, the more so as I die innocent of the
horrid crime with ‘which I have been cbarged, and for which
1 shall this moraing forfeit my life. .I most earncstly entreat

- .you not to grieve at my departare, as it will be buta short time

before we meet again. To suffer innocently is a blessing which
cannot fail to infuse into the breasts of ‘my relatives a lasting
and solid consolation, which if I were guilty would be altoge-
ther impossible. I feel a firmness and inward serenity which
nothing but conscious innocence can produce, and I hope and
trust, before this reaches you, that I shall behold my Re.
deemer face to face, and before whom I stand, solemnly
denying any kanowledge of the crime wihich so cruelly removes
me hence, at such an early period of life, and which was per-
petrated by a man whose character is already before the public,
and whose testimony is altogether false. He implicated us with
no other view than teo screen himself; and, in pursuing that

line of: conduct, he: has acquired a temporary respite from jus.

tice, which must shortly overtake him. I shall so far do jus.
tice to my feelings as to assert my innocence beforc the public,
who must. shortly become better acquainted with the facts.
There is one circamstance which I niust beg leave to mention
respecting Hanfield, before I conclude, which is, his acknow-

- ledging himself, whilst in prison, the only person concerned

in the murder of Mr. Steele. He told one Timothy Sulivan,
a prisoner there, that Holloway was innocent of the murder;
or, to use his own words, ‘¢ Holoway knows nothing aboutit;”
and as tg myself, he sent word to me several times, by one
‘Thomas Eady the wardman of the infiymary, to make myself

contented ;
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contented ; that I should soon be-diseharged, and he would be
sent on board ship, and that no harm would reach me, There
were others in the prison to whom he communicated the same
<ircumstance, which |can . easily be-ascertained by inquiry.
“These facts must convince every one, that no attention is due to
his testimony, and which I will deay, with my last breath ; to
porsist in which, unaccompanied by truth, would betray the
* most oxcessive folly and depravity. I must now, my dear af.
fectionate mother, bid you an eternal farewell. Give my kind
ove to my dear father, my déar brother and sisters, and uncle
and aunts, including your dear infants ; and may Ged prosper
and protect you all, and may the blessing of the Father, Som,
and Holy Ghost, be and remain with you all for ever.

Iam, my déar mother,
Your truly affectionate and happy son,

OWEN HAGGERTY.

¢ Between 5 and 6 o’clock & letter was put into.the cell,
which I boped was to communicate that a respite was received ;
but, on apening it, I found the contrary ; it requested that the
_ prisoner would continue his devotion, as no expectation could
"passibly be entertained of mercy. After a few minutes had
elapsed, Haggerty said, might he be sa bold as to ask the con.
tents of the letter.” I informed him: om which he leaned his
head wpan his hand, and for some wminutes said nothing: but

he afterwards ohserved, that if the judgment of the law was -

to take effect, he did not wish the time to be delayed.

¢¢ I frequently asked him, dusing the night, how he found
himself ; and his answer was uniformly, ¢ I am very well,
thank God, considering my situation.”

Very shoedly after 7 o’clock, on the marning. of execution,
X went to the cells. Haggerty wasengaged with hisconfessos,
‘and, as he continued so until . the sherifis and their retinuve
arsived, I could not have an opportenity of speaking to him;
but 1 saw and conversed with Hollowby, who still denled his

guilt .
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guilt, and said there were people in the House of Correction;
who kpew that he was innocent. I asked him who they were,”
and by what means they could - prove it. He named Charles

-Flower, Tmothy Sulivany)and, the; gardener, said, that what
they knew was from Hanfield himself, who had acknowledged -
to them that he did not know him (Holloway), and that it
would give him satisfaction if 1 would go up and ihquire of
them the truth of what he said. I promised him I certamly
would, and asked him how he could omit stating these circum-
stances before. He answered, that he could not tell, he had
forgot until then,

' Upon the entrance of the shenﬁ's, the necessary preparations
were commenced. Haggerty came, outinto the press-yard, and
had his fetters struck off. He apfpeared deeply depressed,
but uttered not a word, and returned into what is called the
Jong” room, to be pinioned. Holloway was pinioned before
his irons were removed. He again returned into the long
yoom, and a few minutes after said, he wished to speak teo
“the gentlemen. At this time, several noblemen, the lord mayor, |
Aldenna.n Flower, and many gentlemen, besides the sheriffs
and under-shenﬂ's, were assembled in the yard.. Never shall I -
forget the impressive manner in which he at this momgnt con-
ducted himself.

A circle was formed, and, on his entering it, he began on his-

. nght, bowing slowly and . reverently, until he had completed
the circle; he then stood erect in the centre, and in an audible
voice said, ¢ Gentlemen, I die innocent; I know nothing of
this here affair that I am going to suffer for.”” He then dropped
down upon his knees, and with his hands, as in the posture of
prayer, said, ¢ T am innocent, by God!” He then arose, and
with great composure proceeded to the scaffold. Co

Many of the public prints have, with shameless effrontery,
represented these unfortunate men as having evinced the utmost
depravity even upon the scaffold; but there is no foupdation
for such assertion. It isa foul calumny. From whence it
originates I can guess, but it will not have its desired effect.

N L : It
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- 1t has been said that Haggerty was about to confess his

gmlt that he had begun to do so, but was prevented by Hol. -

loway; that Holloway refused to communicate with the
ordinary, and\desired  Haggerty to have nothing to say to the
priest; that his language was indecorous, and his behaviour
scandalous. Ythas also been said, that Haggerty, after coming
“from his confessioh, refused to give answers respecting his guilt

~ or innocence, by which it might bé presumed that he tacitly"

acknowledged his guilt. These, and many other reports inju.

. fious to the sufferers, have been industriously circulated. Imight -

pledge my word they are false, although I did not see them on
the scaffold. I could not for a moment believe, that men,
who had eonducted themselves in the manner I have described,
should in less than five minutes, and under additional cause for
solemnity, behave so infamously. I was not, however, satisfied
with my own conviction, but Inquired of the gentlemen who
. attended them, and the result perfectly confirmed my expecta-
tmns' Holloway several times told the spectators he was
innocent; and, in the most emphatic manner, called God to

‘witness the ti‘nth of his assertion; and, when he was doing so, °
Haggerty, unasked, said. ¢ And I alsoam innocent!” And-

thelast question put to him was, as to his guilt, and he readily
and solemnly aserted his innocence. After the cap was over

Holloway’s face, he continued repeating.—*¢ Innocent, inno- ,

cent 1 until the platform dropped.

Let me now ask the candid reader, was there any thing in
the conduct of these men, that could induce the most prejudiced
against them to believe they would enter into the presence of
God, declaring a fa\;lselibod, and calling upon his name to witness

- its truth? Did they believe in God? Their fervency in prayer,
the tears of Holloway when praying, the reverence of Haggerty
in taking off his hat, when naming the Deity, and indeed the
whole of their conduct, convince me they did so believe: 1
would therefore put more confidence jn the dying declarations

made by men thus conducting themselves, - than in the oath of

" man so depraved -as Hanfield, however consistent lus story

: might
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might appear ;. and the more especially, when it is considered -
that those declarations, however true, were made at a time °
when not only no benefit could by any possibility be expected
in this world, but)/ if falseythesufferers were knowingly calling
down upon themselves the just vengeance of God in the world
to come; whereas, the oath or testimony of Hanfield was te -
obtain his pardon. They had, therefore, no motive to declare
a falsehood ; he, on the contrary, a very strong one.

O Hanfield, Hanfield, unha.ppy wretched man! should these
pages ever meet your eyes, consider the genérous behaviour of
Haggerty. He forgave you, ‘though you prematurely brought .
him to the grave. To the grave, did I say?—no; the crime of
which, upon yeur testimony, he and his fellow-sufferer were
convicted, was of so heinousa nature, that, by the laws of the
country, they were not only doomed to the most ignominious

- of deaths, but their bodies mutilated and denied the rights of

sepulture. Consider their conduct, and if you have not a heart
of flint, what must be your sensations of remorse! Do not resist

.such sensations ; flyto rehgian,* for you have much, very mnch,

Yo answer for: make every possible atonement for your crime,
by a full and open confession ; and Iy even I, who now, at the
bare mention of your nameé, shudder with horror, will say,
God forgive you!

. I wiH in charity believe, 'that, when it first suggesfed itself to
your mind to accuse these men, your own release was &/l you
sought ; thatyousuppesed they would only endure a alight and
temporary imprisonment, to which, as they were men of de-
praved bhabits, there would be but little crime in subjectmg
them ; and that all which followed arose from necemty, or was
the effect of chance; but, if you believe in a future state, da
not thus trifie with your conscience, and risk eternal tor.
ment and dampation. Remember, that he, who commits an
unlawful and im:nm'al act, is answerable for all its fatal

» Hisown wotds to A:bee, as related i in the deposition of the latter.
2 L  enonsequences.
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gonsequences. The incendiary, who, from interésted motives,
fires his house, conceives that his object will be accomplished
by the destruction of his own premises alone; but the flames
communicate’; they'carry (with them_desolation and dismay;
many perish, thousands are ruined; yet, perhaps, this guilty
man would have shrunk back with horror at the idea of
taking away the life of one individual fellow-creature. Is he
not, however, equally culpable? is not he the murderer of alt
those who became his victims ?—most certainly. For with him
originated the immediate cause of their destruction. Thus it is
with you, if you have accused these men unjustly ; for, though
you might not wish, or conceive, that their lives would be en-
dangered, you are equally criminal; and are answerable, not
only for their deaths, but for all the accumulated calamntles,
that marked the day on which they suffered.

. The last and in my mind, the most materially.convmcmg
proofs of the innocence of the sufferers, I am now about to- lay
before the reader.

It will be recollected, T promised Holloway, on the morning’
be suffered,that I would go to the persons he mentioned in the
House of Correction. The whole of that day my mind was so
agitated, not only from having beheld innocent men preparing
for execution, but from the dreadful catastrophe which ac-
eompanied their fate, as to be incapable of then fulfilling my
promise. I went there.the following morning, and on men.
tioning to the governor the purpose of my visit, he said I might
pea the persons I inquired for. T told him I wished him ‘to be
present, and hear what passed. The several persons whase depo«
sitions follow, were then brought into his office ope at a time.
1 asked them if they had ever conversed with Hanfield respect.
jng the prisoners, or the murder of Mr. Steele, and partieu.
Iarly cautioned them not to state any thing but-the trath, as
the men were dead, and could not be benefited or injured by
what they might say ; that, besides, I should, if it appeared to-
pe material, take down their answers, and.prepare an affidayit
ascordingly, for them to swear, apd therefore adyised them nat

: . to
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4o say any thing they ¢ould not consciencionsly confirm upnﬁ
wvath. They then stated the facts in their several deposmons,

which I have, as nearly as possible, drawn up in “their own
words; and it/will/be found that their representations very ac-

curately correspond with what Haggerty told the gentlemen i

who sat up with him the niglt before his execution.

At the time the depositions were prepared, I conceived, tbe.t,
upon explainiog the purpose to.which it was intended to apply
them, any magistrate for the county of Middlesex would readil y
attend and administer the oath to the parties ;.for, surely, if cona

siderable doubts remain as to.the guilt or innocence of the

men that suffered, it is desirable that every fair investigation
should be promoted to clear away those doubts. If the inno-
cence of these men cannot be established, they ought to be
considered as guilty; and the world will rest satisfied that Mr:

Steele’s murderers have been discovered, and met with theit’

morited punishment; but, if the men are really innocent, and
it can be made apparent, are there not sufficient reasons, why it
should bemade public? First: that the real murderers may
still be sought after, and not left to prowl upon society. - Se-
condly : that comvicts may not, like Hanfield, imagine they

" can, by framing bold and artful stories against innocent men,

extricate themselves from punishment, and ultimately escapé
with impunity ; for, if this idea prevail among the vicious, no
man’s life is safe. And, thirdly: the consolation it must afford
¢o the, parents of these anfortunate sufferers, to have the odium
of murder removed from their families. Thesc reasons led me
#o magine, that no difficulty or opposition weuld arise to pre«
vent the depositions being sworn ;- but I have made very many
applications to magiétrafes without effect, several having de-
clined interfering without the Secretary of State’s corisent,
advising me to wait upon Lord Spenser, or Mr. Wynne, the.
Under.sectetary On the 16th inst. I accordmgly waited upon
Mr. Wynge, Lord Spenser being then out of town, explained
to him the investigation in which I-was engaged, with the diffi-
eulfies felt by magistrates, and solicited his interference to re-

+
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move them. Mr. Wynne answered, that, as no legal proceedings
were to be instituted upon the depositions, he was doubifu]
whether tfe Secretary of State would interfere ; but that I had
better communicate myirequest in, writing, and it would be at.
tended to; I therefore next day sent the following letter:
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- assmbiitng.

¢ MY LORD,

. ¢¢ Having-been engaged in a minute investigation
of the case of Holloway and Haggerty, who suffered for the
murder of Mr. Steele, and the result in my mind completely
demonstrating their innocence, I feel it of importance, that
the public should also be satisfied, in order that the real mur.
derers should not escape with impunity ; and, if I satisface
torily prove that Hanfield has caused the death of two in.
nocent men, merely to obtain his pardon, a consideration
will arise, as to instituting some proceedings against him.”

¢¢ In the course of this investigation, I have learned
80me very material facts from persons confined in the House
of Correction, Cold-bath Fields, to the truth of which they
are willing to make oath, and I have prepared depositions
accordingly : but several police-magistrates, to whom I have
applied, feeling a delicacy in interfering, unless they have
the direction or concurrence of your Lordship, have desired '
me to make the present application, I therefore ﬁke the
liberty of soliciting your Lordship to give directions to some
one of His Majesty’s Justices of the Peace for the county
of Middlesex to swear the above mentioned depositions, or
that your Lordship will condescend to notify that thereis no

abjection to such depositions being taken upon oath.”

¢¢ I have the honor to be,’ ‘
¢ My Lord,
¢¢ Your Lordship’s
¢ Most obedient humble Servant,
JAMES HARMER.
¢ St. John’s Square, Clerkenwell,
March 17, 1807.

To the Right Hon. Earl Spgncei-.”
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* T'o this letter no answer has yet been given; which may have '
arisen from subjects of more moment occupying the time and
attention of ‘his Lordship; and as, by waiting for an answer,
¢onsiderable/delay might be oécasioned, without ultxmately ate
taining the object, the depositionsare given in their present
state ; and, though not sworn, the Reader will judge, whether
nearly as much credit is not due to them, the men having
been ready to swear at.all times, since the dopoomons were
prepared

" # WE, the Undersigned, do most solemnly declare; that the
- statements contained in our several depositions hereunto an-

nexed are stricily true in every particular; and that we are
" ready to swear to them when called upon.

-his
TIMOTHY ¥ SULLIVAN
- Mark.

THOMAS EDEY.

. his
CHARLES ¢ FLO WER,
- ) Mark.

. - his
EDWARD » JONES,
Mark.

GEO. LONGDEN.
: THO. ASBEE.
' : ARTHUR BRUE.”
* Witness, J. HARMER.”

“ TiMOoTRY
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% TimoTRY SuLLIVAK, a prisoner in the House of Correction,
€old-bath Fields;, maketh Oath, and saith, that he has been ac~
‘quainted with Haggerty about ten years, and has known Hol-
leway two or three yeats, and Hanfield, about a twelvemonth :
and this Deponent saith, that he has, for the last four years, re~
sided in or about the neighbourhood of Saint Giles’s, and fre-
quented the houses usually resorted to by thieves; and that he
pever saw the said-three persons in company togetber : and this
Deponent further saith, that the day after the said Hanfield be-
came a prisoner, this Deponent saw him coming down from the

~ Infirmary, and asked him how he came there; to which he ‘

answered, that the then last Saturday was a foggy day, and
that he had made his escape; and this deponent knowing that.
the said Hanfield had been trausported, and sent to Langston
Harbour, and seeing him still dressed in the convict clothes,
replied, that he could not have got out of the town (meaning
Portsmouth) in those clothes ; and the conversation then ended.
And this Deponent further saith, that, a short time after, he
fearned that Hanfield had been brought to the Prison for the
murder of Mr. Steele; aod he thén heard him semetimes ex-
press that he thought he should be hanged, and at others that
he should get his pardon. And this Deponent saith, that, hear-

ing Holloway was taken into custody for the same murder, and .

that Hanfield was to be the witness against him, he, the first

opportunity, asked Hanfield whether Holloway knew any thing .

about the busipess, to which he answered that he did not ; that
he did not know any thing about Holloway : and this deponent
saith, that, shortly afterwards, hearing Haggerty wasin cus.
_tody upon the same subject, he, the next time he saw Hanfield,
told him the circumstance, npan which he changed countenance,
and, at that time, said not a word : and this Deponent further
saith, that he frequently afterwards saw the said Hanﬁeld and
told him he had known Owen Haggerty for years, angd that he
was a man that would not hurt a worm ; and that he never knew
that they ever went out together, or were even acquainted with
: each
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hocently ; to all which observations he avoided giving an an<

siver,

. his o,
* TIMOTHY M SULLIVAN,

: ' Mark:”

Bworn at the House. of Correctiony
for the County of Middlesex;{_
the Day of
1807, Before me -

4*—‘-

* Thoias EbEy, hurse to the Infirmary in the Hotse of Cors
tection, Cold-bath Fields, maketh Oath, and saith, That Depo-'
nent frequently went to that part of the prison where Hanfield
was confined ; and, as Haggetty was unwell, and a patient un
der this Deponent’s care, Hanfield asked aftér him, and how he
was; and, upon Deponent’s 'saying he was in good spirits; he °
said, ¢ you may tell both him and Holloway that they have no
occasion to fret or make thiemselves uneasy, for, the next hearing
they will both be turned up, and I shall have a swimmet, and
that will not last me above six months, and then we shall all be
at liberty.” He also intimatéd, that it was better, they should
be confined a short time; than that he should be on boatd the -
Hulks for seven years : and added; ‘¢ that he would rather be
at the House of Correction, if he had the same allowance he
then received, a pint of beer and two loaves a day, for seven
years, than have any thing farther to do in the business.”——

-Asid this Deponent furthet saith, Haggerty’s conduct, while he

wat ini the 4ame room ‘with this Deponent, which was near two
months, was that of an innocent man in every particular ; and
that Hanfikld’s behaviour was shocking to repeat. He behaved
ill to every .one, and threaténed the lives of the patients with~
out any provocation; and also abused and threatened the

‘ - ‘ Governor,
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Gavernor, the Doctor, and indeed every persor about the
* THOMAS EDEY.”

Cold-bath Fields, this
Day of 1807,
Before me
o

¢ €uannes ‘Frowes, a prisoner in the House of Cerrection, -
Cold-bath Fields, maketh Oath, and saith, That he was com-
mitted on the thirteenth day of January last to the said Prison,
and that about a fortnight after, upon goingte the Infirmary
to get his shovlder dressed, this Deponent saw Benjamin Han- -
field, whom he lad before slightly known asbeinga post-chaise
_ bey for.a Mr. Shaw ; and this Deponent saith that he got iate
. conversation with bim respecting the murder of Mz. Steele,

. and said, if they were the men, (meaning Holloway and Hag.
gerty,} they deserved to be hanged ; but, if they were inno-
cent, they ought to be recompensed for their trouble, as their
characters were lost ; and this Deponent saith, that the said
Beanjamin Hanfield answered, that they would be sure to be
cleared of it, and that it was better they should be here (mean. -
ing the House of Corvection) for six or seven months,than he to be
at hulks for six or seven years; and frequently repeated, that
they weould be cleared, and that he should have aswimmer, by
which this Deponent urderstood that be expected to be sent on -
board a man of war : and this Deponent forther saith, that the
next day he saw Holloway, and told hisa what had pased.

bis
*“ CHARLES § FLOW

Mask.”

Sworn at the House 'of Correction, %

Cold-bath Ficlds,. this

Day of 1807,
. Before me

Swern at the Hause of Correetinn,;

* EDWARD -
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«Epwarp JoNES, 2 prisoner in the House of Correction,’ Cold-

.

. bathFi jelds, maketh Oath, and saith, That, at the time of his first

imprisonment in this Prison, he was unwell, and went every day

to the Infirmary) where he'saw Benjamin Hanfield, with whom

he had frequent conversations, in which he stated that be was
very sorry he had brought those men up, (alluding so Hollo-

way and Haggerty ;) and said, that what he stated at the.

office went for nething ; that ke said what he pleased there, in
order to get his liberty ; that he would not hurt a hair of their
heads ; and that, when it came ¢o trial, he would do all away,
&et them turned up, and himself seat on.board ship, -or he
should be very glad if they would let them off, and permit him
to be a prisamerfar two years : and this Deponent further saith,
that. he believes the said Hanfield was meore communicative
with him on account of his being a soldier, and be, Hanfleld,
having been one also ; and, every morning this Depouent went
to the Infirmary, Hanfield requested him to go and walk in the
wyard, in order that they might net be everheard, and the lan-
guage abeve described was frequently repeated ; and this De-
ponent saith, that, Haggerty being in the same yard with this
Deponent, he cemmunicated to him what passed with Han-
field ; and this Deponent further saith, that Haggerty always
said he was innocent of what he was accdsed of. '

his -
< EDWARD 4 JONES,
. ' Mark” °
Sworn at the House of Correction,
Cold-bath Fields, this g
Day of 1807.
Before me
ot —

“ Gronck Loncpan, one of the turnkeys at the House of Cot-
rection, Cold-bath F:elds, on his Oath, saith, That he hath, at
different times, heard a prisoner, pamed Hanfield, during hn
confinement, and particularly a few days before his liberation,
say, that, when ke got out of his confinement, he would run

u2 a knife
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a kaife m'to the Governor’s bloody -bowels, as well as his thil
Deponent’s, or any bloody traps that should attempt to appre«
hend or take him ; and other very bad expressions.

¢ GEORGE LONGDEN.”*

Sworn this Day of
- 1807. Before me }

e e

«TuoMAs ASBEE, a prisoner in the House of Correction for the
County of Middlesex, maketh Oath .and saith, That Benjatin
Hanfield, since his commitment to the above prison, has been
confined in the same Department as this Deponent, and this
Deponent has had frequent conyersations with him upon the
subject of Mr. Steele’s murder, but nothing ever passefl from .
which this Depanent could infer the innocence of the persons
accused, until Sunday, the twenty-second day of February,
(the day before they suffered :) and this Deponent saith, that,
seeing him, on the afternoon of that day, sitting by the fire, ap-
parently in a desponding way, with his head reclining on his
hand, and this Deponent never having observed him so serious
before, thaught it a good opportuanity to converse with and
question him ; and this Deponent went and shook hands with
him, and asked him how he found himself : he answered, ¢ Raa.
ther poorly, but as well as could be expected.” And this De-
ponent further saith, upon appearing solicitous about him, he
requested this Deponent to permit him to have an hour’s con-
versation by themselves, there being then several persons in the
room; and deppneht accordingly took him down into his own
apartment, and gave him sonie porter, and then began conver-
sing, as seriously as he was able, upon religion ; and, as Depo-

_ment perceived he was affected, and that the tears were running

‘down his face, Deponent pressed him very closely, and asked

him ¢ What he thought would hecome of bim if those men suf-
fered innocently » he answered, ¢ Innocently !—they cannot
be innogent ; for, if they have not done this, they have done
other things as bad,’ And, op this Deponent’s again asking

, him
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him what he thought would become of him, he answered, ¢ I
ehall fly to religion, and every tliing is to be forgiven, I have
no doubt.’ Deponent observed, that, if he had any hopes of a
future state, \he'caghtiimmediatelyito confess the innocence of
the men, as it was not yet tgo late ; and asked what could induce
him to charge innocent men : he answered, that self-preserva-
tion was the first law of nature ; that the Hulks on board which
he was confined was a shocking dreadful place; and added,
¢ you or any man, rather than be seven years at the Hulks,
would hang as many men as were killed at the battle of Copen-
hagen.’ And this Deponent saith, that their conversation ended
a short time before. lockings ; and that, at the time thiey sepa-
rated, he shook hands with this Depoenent, said he had given
. him good advice, and hoped nothing would go any further,
thereby intimating a wish (as this Deponent understood him)
that this Deponent would not communicate to others any thing
that had passed : but this Deponent saith, that, immediately
upon his retarn to his féllow prisoners, he told them, and also
pl'lblicly mentioned it the next morning before Hanfield was
taken away from the prison. And this Deponent further saith,
that, until the conversation above described, Hanfield never ap- 4
peared to this Deponent to feel or express the slightest contri-
tion or remorse; on the.contrary, the greatest part of his con.
duct was depraved, and his language shockingly blasphemous;
. and so habituated was he to brutal expressions, that, while he
was thus setiously conversing, he could not suppress the lan-
guage to which he wasaddicted ; for, on this Deponent’s asking
him, who went with him, when he gave his evidence, he an.
- swered, Bridgman; and added, that, if George (who is one of
Mr. Aris’s men) had gone up with him, he would have mur-
dered the ble=dy b—-r.”

. ¢ THOMAS ASBEE.™
~ Sworn at the House of Correction, .
for the County of Middlesex,
the . dayof
1807, Before me .

 Artaur
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* ArTBUR BRoUE, nurse in the Infirmary of the House of Cor-
rectiop for the County of Middlesex, maketh Oath, and saith,
That Benjamin Hanfield was in the same place with this Depo-
Rent during the/tité hé 'was confined in the above prison ; and
this Deponent had therefore an opportunity of observing his
demeanour; and this.Deponent saith, that his conduct was

- * shocking ; and this Deponent was always afraid of him, and

dreaded, from his bebaviour to Deponent.aud the poor people
who were ill, that he would commit murder: and this Deporent
saith, that he several times assaulted persons who were in the
lnﬁ}mary; and that, one night in- particular, at about half-past
twelve o’clock, he assaulted a man of the ngme of James Bry-
ant, while in bed, and tore his shirt in pieces. And this Depo.
nent further sith, that he saw the said Hanfield in the way
described by Asbee in his Affidavit, and heard him say he should
like to speak to him alone. :
- . s« ARTHUR BRUE.”
Sworn at the House of Correction
* for the County of Middlesez,{.
the - Dayeof y
1807, DBefore me
. co—

-

Should i be abjected that those whé sigh ‘the above depos
sitions are bad characters, and. ought'not therefors to be be«
Lieved, especially as Hanfield afterwards denied baving mads
the declarations.attributed to him,—let me ask if these men are
ane tenth so depraved as Hanfield? Yet uponhis testimony were
the sufferers. convicted and :execyted. Even admitting them
to be equally bad, Hanfield, by the. evidence ke was giving,

procured Kberation fron? the Hulks, and pardon from trans- -

portation, The Deponents, un the: contrary, had no wish
to ratify, no sinister end to answer. Asbee mever saw either
Holloway or Haggerty, and therefore coulhl not feel at

‘ all mte:ested for themi- - lhdeed _the whole of the deposi-

L . tions

-
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tions were made after their .death; consequently, supposing
those men to have been the _most intimate friends and
associates of the deceased, and ‘wicked enough to swear
falsely, to save\them from) ponishment,—they would not vo-
lunteer perjury, when it could not possibly benefit themselves.
or their acquaintances, and would certainly procure them no
favour, If these Deponents, then, had no interested motive for
" asserting vntruths, and if Hanfield unquestionably had, the
reader may judge to whom most credit is due. -

I should observe, that Brue and Edey were. placed in the situe
stion of nurses to the Infirmary, on account of their humane and
proper conduct ; they are therefore less liable to be suspected
of perjuring themselves, even were it likely to answer some
beneficial purpose. But it cannot, surely, be believed that the
Deponents would willingly sweat falsehoods, merely. to temove
the odium of murder from the characters of men with whom

_they were unacquam\ted

The depravity of Hanfield’s conduct does not rest upon. the '

statements made in those depositions. When. in the House of
Correction,. he has used violent threats in the hearing of the
Govérnor’s Son, The shirt which he tore in pieces from the

" - back of a fellow-prisoner, as-mentioned by Brue, ig in the Go-

vernor’s possession ; and the following incident, which occurred
" only a short time before the trial, tends to shew the ferocity of
his disposition. While exercising himself at Fives, a little
Puppy, in the playfulness of its nature, ran after him, and ens
tangled itself for a moment between his legs. He immediately
seized the poor little animal, and with the greatest malignity
dashed it against the wall, so that, on its reaching the ground,
# lay for some time apparently lifelesss He is besides well
known in the different prisons of the metropolis for the brutas
lity of his actions, his horrid blasphemous éxpressions, sind
his diabolical threats against those who even unintentionally
offended him. The whole of this man’s behaviour, therefore,

‘completely refutes his assertion—of having felt compunctxou or
- remorse of conscience for the last four years. ' b

'U_pon' .

PO IO YO
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Upon investigating the characters of Holloway and Haggéts
ty,, I find Holloway usually got his living by -honest industry,
but was once convicted of a petty theft, and sentcnced to six

. months imprisonment-in the House'of Correction; and, when
there, he was permitted to work in the garden,—an indulgence
granted only tothose who behave themselves well. The offens .
ces, of which Haggerty aﬁpears to have been guilty, were such
as stcaling lead from a falling and deserted house ;- or running
away with trifling articles exposed in the street for sale; and,
s0 far from his being a desperate man, he was the object of ri.
dicule among those who lived entirely by thieving, because he
would nearly starve rather than commit thefts; and he was at
last so much reduced, as to be compelled to enlist in the Ma~
rines. They were neither of them professed thieves, who pre-
meditated crimes, but merely yielded occasionally to present
temptation when out of work. And, fromall that I have been able
to collect of their disp'osition, they were very unlikely men to
bave committed. a'crime so abhorrent from human nature as that
ascrilpqd_id them. ,

- The Public arc now in possession of the Documents I have
collected, and of such observations as have occurred, By.
some I have been censured for the undertaking,—by others
threatened. I have been told, to my face,’ that prosecution
would surcly follow any publication I might send into the
world, which had for its object to shew the imnocenee of the
sufferers ; that the Attorney and Solicitor General should be
consukted ; -that, if I ventured to publish any thing, I must
not expect to remain upon the Roll of Attorneys. But I was
notto be intimidated or deterred from that which to me ap-
peared right. If, because I darc give my opinion openly and
dispassionately, together with the groundsupon which that opi-
nion isformed, I am unfit to remain upon the Roll, lot me be
§truck off! I would rather subsist by daily labour, conscious
of not having violated or ncglected a sacred duty, than fill the
most lucrative sitnation, and basely suppress the truth, in com-

. pliance with magisterial menaces ; but I know too well‘the

liberality,
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liberality, the honour, and the public virtue, of those who
watch over the purity of the Rolls of Attorneys, to entertain
for 4 moment the slightest apprehension that such menaces can
de carried into effect.

" I know not whether similar threats have been used to others ;
but part of my manuscript was in the hands of a printer ; the
pressset, and a proof actually worked off, when, together with
the manuscript, it was returned, accompanied by an apology
from the printer ; saying, that, even if no ill consequence re-
sulted, he should feel uneasy, and therefore declined proceed-
ing. From this circumstance, the publication has been unavoid-
aply delayed.

T have now discharged that which I consider an imperative
duty. Whether I am justified in the steps I have taken; whe-
ther the observations I have offéted are deserving attention,
the inferences just, or the conclasions maintainhable; or, whe-
ther the facts produced are irrelevant and improbable, the Public
will determine. To their tribunal I submit the whole openly
and unreservedly, yet with the greatest diffidence as to the exe-
cution of the task. Whatever be the résult, I shall be content.
Conscious that I am prompted by none but pure and disinter.
ested motives, and that I have no desire whatever, to misrepre~
sent facts, or mislead the public opinion, if I err in the judg.
ment I have formed, the error will, I hope, be deemed to pro-

ceed from the head, and not from the heart.

FINI®
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ERRATA. ‘

Page 24, line 20, for only, read it only.
. 22, — repeated, read retracted.
3L The eleven lines at the ‘$nd of this pnge, and the six lines at the tap
of the next, should have been inserted after the first paragraph r.s;
, page L.
51, line 7, for he, read it.
52, —- 31, — in that; read in their.
53; == 2, — that, read this,

Leuis & Hawmblin, Paternostersyons
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